ISSN 1643-3157



KAROL STARMACH INSTITUTE OF FRESHWATER BIOLOGY POLISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES

> ZAKŁAD BIOLOGII WÓD im. KAROLA STARMACHA POLSKA AKADEMIA NAUK

SUPPLEMENTA ad A C T A HYDROBIOLOGICA

Volumen 4

Krzysztof Kukuła

Structural changes in the ichthyofauna of the Carpathian tributaries of the River Vistula caused by anthropogenic factors

KRAKÓW 2003

http://rcin.org.pl

SCOPE OF THE JOURNAL

SUPPLEMENTA ad ACTA HYDROBIOLOGICA publishes original research reports on all kinds of inland waters (rivers, reservoirs, lakes, wetlands, estuaries, etc.), their organisms (micro-organisms, algae, macrophytes, invertebrates, fish and other vertebrates), and related physical and chemical factors. The scope of the journal includes ecology, physiology, taxonomy and methodology. Papers concerning the practice of freshwater fishery and aquaculture or the conservation and management of water ecosystems are also accepted.

EDITORIAL POLICY

Papers are received on the understanding that they have not previously been published, are not being considered or accepted for publication elsewhere, and are final versions read and approved by all co-authors. Authors are obligated to obtain written permission from the copyright holder to use any illustration, table, or extended quotation from material that has previously been published. Papers on acceptance become the exclusive copyright of the publisher.

All submitted papers will be considered for publication by the editor and critically reviewed by outside experts in the relevant discipline. Papers not meeting the standards required will not be eligible for review. Authors will be notified of acceptance, rejection, or need for revision within three months. Expenses of publication of the paper are charged to the author. Cost estimates will be supplied in advance and must be prepaid before paper will be scheduled. Twenty-five offprints are supplied free of charge. Where more authors are involved, the corresponding author will receive all offprints for distribution among the co-authors. An additional number may be ordered by payment.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Articles should be submitted in duplicate to the Editorial Office, Karol Starmach Institute of Freshwater Biology, ul. Sławkowska 17, 31-016 Kraków, Poland. The author should retain a copy of the text, tables, and original illustrations, as the editor cannot accept responsibility for damage or loss of submitted papers (originals will be requested with the final version of the manuscript). Manuscripts should be written in English and typed on one side only of A4-size paper (30 lines per page, about 60 characters per line). Typing should be double-spaced throughout the text, including tables, figure legends, and list of references.

The title page should include the title of the contribution, the author's name (with full first name), the name and full postal address of the institution at which the work was carried out and the abstract. If the present affiliation of the author differs from the above, it should appear as a footnote. In the case of co-authors, their respective addresses should be clearly indicated. The **Abstract** (not longer than 10 lines) should summarize the significant content of the paper but should not repeat the title. It should be followed by a list of key words (not more than 10 words).

(continued on inside back cover)

ISSN 1643-3157



KAROL STARMACH INSTITUTE OF FRESHWATER BIOLOGY POLISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES

> ZAKŁAD BIOLOGII WÓD im. KAROLA STARMACHA POLSKA AKADEMIA NAUK

SUPPLEMENTA ad ACTA HYDROBIOLOGICA

Volumen 4

Krzysztof Kukuła

Structural changes in the ichthyofauna of the Carpathian tributaries of the River Vistula caused by anthropogenic factors

KRAKÓW 2003

http://rcin.org.pl

SUPPLEMENTA ad ACTA HYDROBIOLOGICA

A journal devoted to the study of water biology

Editor-in-Chief

Janusz STARMACH Cracow, Poland

Editorial Advisory Board

Jan BARICA Hamilton, Canada Halina BUCKA Cracow, Poland Pertti ELORANTA Helsinki, Finland Anna HILLBRICHT-ILKOWSKA Warsaw, Poland Jadwiga SIEMIŃSKA Cracow, Poland Olav M. SKULBERG Oslo, Norway Jan SZUMIEC Gołysz, Poland Jan M. WŁODEK Cracow, Poland

Stanisław WRÓBEL Cracow, Poland

Editorial Office Małgorzata SZUL

Recenzenci: Prof. dr hab. Janusz STARMACH Prof. dr hab. Jerzy MASTYŃSKI

SUPPLEMENTA ad ACTA HYDROBIOLOGICA is published by the Karol Starmach Institute of Freshwater Biology, Polish Academy of Sciences, ul. Sławkowska 17, 31–016 Kraków, Poland. The journal is fully financed by the authors of submitted papers and issued when the number of accepted papers has been completed. Orders for subscription, exchange, back issues, offprints or advertising space should be sent to the publisher. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form without the prior written permission of the publisher.

Information about SUPPLEMENTA ad ACTA HYDROBIOLOGICA and the tables of contents as well are available at Web site http://www.zbw.pan.krakow.pl

ISSN 1643-3157

© by Karol Starmach Institute of Freshwater Biology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Cracow 2003 Printed in Poland

CONTENTS

Abstract	1
1. Introduction	2
2. Study area	3
3. Material and methods	11
4. Results	13
4.1. Fish assemblages in the River San catchment	14
4.2. Pollution of waters	29
4.3. Poaching	32
4.4. Dam reservoirs	34
4.5. Forest works	39
4.6. Temporary changes in the distribution of species in the catchment area	39
4.7. The degree of threat to the ichthyofauna	40
5. Discussion	42
References	53



http://rcin.org.pl

Author's address: Krzysztof Kukuła University of Rzeszów, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences ul. Rejtana 16c, 35-959 Rzeszów, Poland e-mail: kkukula@univ.rzeszow.pl Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4 (2003), 1-63. Cracow, May 2003

Structural changes in the ichthyofauna of the Carpathian tributaries of the River Vistula caused by anthropogenic factors

Krzysztof Kukuła

Abstract – Analyses concerned the chief Carpathian tributaries of the upper course of the River Vistula. In the years 1993-2002 over 21 thousand fish of 21 species were caught. In the collected material Phoxinus phoxinus L., Cottus poecilopus Heck, and Leuciscus cephalus (L.), were most abundantly represented with L. cephalus, Salmo trutta m. fario L., and Chondrostoma nasus L. dominating in the biomass. The current materials were compared with data from the 1960s and 1970s, and also from earlier years, basic changes being observed in the ichthyofauna. Acipenser sturio L., Salmo salar L., and S. trutta m. trutta L. became extinct. Alburnoides bipunctatus (Bloch), Barbus barbus (L.), C. nasus, Cottus gobio (L.), and Vimba vimba (L.), characteristic of mountain and submontane river sectors, were found in the group of endangered species. Pollution and the construction of water dams had the most pronounced impact. The effects of pollution were distinctly visible in the River Skawa and the San middle course, where a dramatic decrease was noted in the percentages of C. nasus, B. barbus, and A. bipunctatus. At the same time, the numbers of L. cephalus and Gobio gobio (L.) increased and Rutilus rutilus (L.) widened the area of its occurrence. In most dam reservoirs fish assemblages were formed with a great share of R. rutilus and Perca fluviatilis L. These species previously not recorded, e.g. in the upper San, occurred fairly abundantly. In the River Wisłok significant changes in the ichthyofauna composition occurred both above and below the dam reservoir. Above the reservoir the numbers of P. fluviatilis distinctly increased. Directly below the reservoir a greater share of L. cephalus and P. phoxinus was observed. The abundance of B. barbus and B. carpathicus (Kotlík et al.) decreased, while C. nasus was absent. The devastation of stream beds in the course of forest works caused a decreased abundance and lower condition coefficient of fish. Angling and, above all, poaching (a common occurrence) contributed to a disturbed age structure in the population of S. trutta m. fario. In the drainage basin of the upper San, significantly higher mean body weights and total lengths of S. trutta m. fario were observed at sites where no visible signs of poaching could be found. In the upper Wisłoka the poachers' ways of fishing brought about significant differences between assemblages at the stations compared. Of the introduced fish species, none appears numerously in the discussed catchment areas. Thymallus thymallus (L.), introduced in the basin of the Wisłoka and San, was more frequently encountered, although it is endangered in the areas of its natural occurrence.

Key words: fish, mountain streams, threatened species, dam reservoirs, pollution, poaching.

© 2003 Karol Starmach Institute of Freshwater Biology. Printed in Poland.

1. Introduction

The ichthyofauna assemblages of running waters show considerable qualitative and quantitative variability caused by natural and anthropogenic factors (Penczak 1989, Grossman et al. 1990, Przybylski et al. 1993, Przybylski 1994, Penczak et al. 1996, Witkowski et al. 2000b, Kruk et al. 2001). The changes could be determined by comparing materials collected at intervals of several or more years, and also by analyses of data from different seasons of the year (Grossman et al. 1990, Zalewski et al. 1990). In running waters, changes in hydrological conditions frequently have a disastrous character (Strange et al. 1992, Allan 1995), but even in the case of great floods fish assemblages return fairly rapidly to their previous condition (Lusk et al. 1998, Lojkásek et al. 2000). In an undisturbed ecosystem native species are adapted to varying environmental conditions and their populations are sustained in spite of distinct reductions of abundance which frequently occur (Noakes and Grant 1986). However, owing to human activity, water ecosystems are currently subjected to pronounced abiotic and biotic stresses, which disturb the biology of many species (Welcomme et al. 1989).

In the previous century anthropogenic factors had increasingly important effects changes occurring in aquatic ecosystems, bringing about considerable on transformations of the environment, particularly of running waters (Backiel 1993). The most important factors were the pollution of waters, changes in the management of catchment areas, running water engineering, and also in the exploitation of fish populations (Backiel 1983, Schiemer and Waidbacher 1992, Allan and Flecker 1993, Heese 2001a, Danilkiewicz 2001). The discharge of industrial wastes and increases in the amount of domestic sewage in Poland have also caused deep changes in the ichthyofauna composition of inland waters (Backiel and Penczak 1989, Bieniarz and Epler 1991, Witkowski et al. 1992, 2000b, Przybylski 1993). Apart from point pollution, the surface contamination caused by runoff from agricultural areas had the greatest effect (Grabarczyk and Niewiadomski 1983, Chełmicki 2001). These factors contributed to the increased turbidity of the waters and their eutrophication (Wróbel 1983). Additionally, the extension of cropland, causing deforestation, particularly in the mountains, could have considerably deteriorated the water quality (Rees and Ribbens 1995). Energy, navigational, and agricultural needs have brought about considerable changes in the course of numerous rivers (Chełmicki 2001). Their beds have been straightened and dammed. Hydrological changes were observed in the drainage basins of rivers (Pierzgalski 1993, Żelazo 1993), leading to the decline of habitats indispensable for the reproduction and growth of fry, and reduced numbers of accessible hiding places. Large dams had a decisive effect on the extinction or drastic reduction in abundance of anadromous fish, and also contributed to changes in the composition of fish assemblages both below and above the dam reservoirs (Penczak et al. 1984, 1994, 1998, Backiel 1985, Neves and Angermeier 1990, Lusk 1995a, Głowacki and Penczak 2000). The place of the receding species was occupied by those better adapted to the new conditions; frequently by strange species (Peňáz and Wohlgemuth 1990, Persson 1994, Lusk 1995a, Kukuła 2003b).

During the last hundred and more years similar changes were observed in the ichthyofauna of the Carpathian affluents of the River Vistula. From the nineteenth century a gradual decline in anadromous fish occurred. In the first place a drastic reduction was observed in the abundance of Atlantic sturgeon *Acipenser sturio* L., leading to its total extinction. Formerly this species was encountered in the rivers San and Dunajec (Bryliński and Kolman 2000, Dyduch-Falniowska 2001). After

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

World War II more and more rapid changes took place. The Atlantic salmon Salmo trutta L. and the sea trout Salmo trutta m. trutta L. ceased to reach the Carpathian affluents of the Vistula. These two species had their spawning grounds in drainage basins of the Soła, Skawa, Dunajec, Wisłoka, and San (Bartel 1988, 2000a, 2000b, Sych 1996, Bartel et al. 2001). Later decreases in the numbers of great predatory fishes such as pike Esox lucius (L.), pikeperch Stizostedion lucioperca (L.), and wels Silurus glanis (L.) were more and more frequently observed as a typical situation for numerous Polish rivers (Witkowski 1984a, 1984b, Penczak 1989, Penczak et al. 1990). Some of the previously abundant species were to be found on the list of endangered species whose number increased every year (Witkowski 1992, 2001, Witkowski et al. 1999, 2000a). Signals of the decreasing abundance of Cyprinidae species commonly occurring in the mountain and submontane rivers of the region, were shown. This concerned, among other species, the barbel Barbus barbus (L.) and nase Chondrostoma nasus (L.) (Skóra and Włodek 1988, 1991, Włodek and Skóra 1999, Amirowicz 2001, Kukuła 2001).

The extinction of Atlantic salmon and Atlantic sturgeon and the decreasing numbers of – among other species – the barbel and nase was accompanied by the appearance of new fish species introduced by stocking or migration from various basins (Witkowski 1996a, 1996b). Moreover, some autochthonous species with smaller requirements began to be recorded in places where they had not previously been found (Starmach 1998, Kukuła 1999).

The aim of the work was to evaluate the changes observed in the ichthyofauna of the Carpathian part of the upper Vistula in the 20th century. Analysis concerned the chief anthropogenic factors affecting to the greatest degree fish communities. Tendencies in the changing distribution ranges of the species most characteristic of the ichthyofauna in the Carpathian tributaries of the Vistula were estimated. Seasonal changes in the drainage basins of mountain rivers were analysed following the example of the upper San.

2. Study area

Selected tributaries of the upper Vistula were analysed (Fig. 1). The Carpathian sectors of the rivers were taken into consideration, accepting the border of the Carpathian Mts as delimited by Kondracki (1978). Fishes were caught in the basin of the upper San and some affluents of that river middle course (Osława, Hoczewka, Baryczka, Stupnica, and Wiar), in the upper Wisłok, in the upper Wisłoka basin, in the River Jasiołka, in streams of Mount Babia Góra, in the midand lower course of the Skawa and its affluents, and in headwater streams of the Vistula. A total of 91 sites were investigated (Tables I and II).

The Carpathian part of the River San is about 280 km in length from its sources to the town of Przemyśl. The catchment area covers about 4500 km². In the basin of the upper San the investigation was carried out at 50 sites (Fig. 2). The drainage basin covers an area of 1189 km² above the Solina dam reservoir. A 50-kilometre long border sector of the San resembles a submontane river, while a further sector, up to the Solina reservoir, shows traits of a mountain river. The tributaries of the upper San are typical mountain streams with a rapid water current and stony bottom. The river-beds of most water courses show traits of a natural character, smaller brooks only having been changed in the past when used as roads for wood transport (Kukuła and Szczęsny 2000). The waters of streams and rivers are pure in the investigated catchment area. The problem of



Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

Table I. Characteristics of sites in the upper San drainage basin (diameter of substratum [cm]: r - rocks, >50; ls - large stones, 15-50; s - stones, 2-15; g - gravel, 0.5-2; sa - sand, <0.5).

River	Site	Altitude	Gradient	Width	Mean	Type	Cover	Shading
					(max)	of bottom	(in 4 grade	(in 3 grade
		[m]	[%]	[m]	(max.)		scale)	scale)
		[]	[700]	[]	[]		Jouro)	Joure,
Wołosatka	1	904	146.7	1-2	0.1 (0.3)	r, ls	1	3
	2	885	34.5	1-2	0.1 (0.2)	r, Is	1	3
	3	860	50.0	2-5	0.2 (0.3)	r, ls, s	2	3
	4	820	39.0	2-5	0.2(0.5)	r, ls, s	4	3
	5	768	26.3	3-5	0.3 (0.6)	r, Is	4	3
	6	689	14.3	3-6	0.2 (0.7)	ls, s, r	3	2
	1	640	13.8	3-7	0.2 (0.7)	ls, s, r	4	2
Wołosaty	8	613	7.6	4-10	0.3 (0.9)	r, ls, s	3	1
	9	560	8.5	4-6	0.3 (1.0)	ls, r, s	2	2
	10	541	6.1	5-10	0.3 (1.0)	r, ls, s	3	1
San	11	719	13.8	2-6	0.1 (0.4)	ls, s, g	1	2
	12	664	4.1	5-8	0.2 (0.7)	ls, s, g	2	2
	13	650	2.5	6-8	0.3 (0.8)	r, ls, s	2	2
	14	536	3.1	8-20	0.3 (1.0)	ls, r, s, g	2	1
	15	485	3.8	20-40	0.3 (1.0)	ls, r, s, g	4	1
Górna	16	801	85.0	2_3	0.2 (0.5)	r la	2	2
Solinka	17	775	26.0	2-6	0.2 (0.5)	r ls s	3	2
Somka	18	714	20.0	3-6	0.2 (0.5)	r le	3	2
	19	650	22.3	4-7	0.3 (0.7)	r, ls, s	3	2
XXX . 11	00	640	67	4 7	0.0 (0.0)		2	0
wetlina	20	640 E7E	0.7	4-1	0.2(0.6)	r, is, s	0	2
	21	575	9.7	4-12	0.3(1.2)	ls, r, s, g	2	1
	22	540	0.6	6-12	0.3 (0.7)	is, r, s	2	1
Solinka	23	670	36.7	2-4	0.1 (0.3)	r, ls	2	3
	24	630	12.8	2-4	0.1 (0.6)	r, ls, s	1	3
	25	515	10.7	4-10	0.2 (0.8)	ls, r, s	2	2
	26	445	8.5	8-20	0.2 (0.7)	ls, r, s, g	2	1
	27	420	6.3	8-30	0.2 (0.7)	ls, r, s, g	1	1
Terebowiec	28	885	177.8	1-2	0.2 (0.4)	r, ls	1	3
	29	835	71.4	1-2	0.1 (0.4)	ls, s, r	1	3
	30	790	35.3	2-3	0.2 (0.5)	r, ls	2	2
	31	740	34.5	3-5	0.2 (0.4)	ls, s, r	1	3
	32	722	40.0	3-6	0.3 (0.8)	r, ls	3	3
	33	675	26.5	2-6	0.2 (0.7)	ls, s, g	4	3
Halicz	34	845	119.6	1-2	0.1 (0.4)	ls, r, s	3	3
	35	820	53.3	2-5	0.1 (0.4)	r, ls. s	2	3
	36	800	26.7	2-5	0.2 (0.5)	r, s, ls	3	3
	37	755	20.0	3-5	0.2 (0.4)	ls, r, s	2	3
Broczyca	38	755	168.0	1_2	0.1 (0.3)	le e	1	3
nzeczyca	39	790	50.0	2-5	0.2(0.4)	ls e	2	2
	40	650	25.5	2-6	0.2(0.4)	ls e o	2	2
	-10	000	20.0	2-0	0.2 (0.1)	10, 0, 6	-	2

Table 1. continue

River	Site	Altitude [m]	Gradient [‰]	Width [m]	Mean depth (max.) [m]	Type of bottom	Cover (in 4 grade scale)	Shading (in 3 grade scale)
Nasiczniański	41	785	160.4	1-2	0.1 (0.2)	ls, s	1	1
	42	693	26.7	2-4	0.3 (0.6)	r, ls	4	2
	43	625	27.2	2-6	0.3 (1.0)	r, ls, s	4	3
	44	525	15.1	3–8	0.2 (1.0)	r, ls, s, g	2	2
Hylaty	45	675	155.7	2-4	0.1 (0.6)	r, ls	2	3
	46	560	35.1	2-4	0.2 (0.7)	r, ls, s	3	3
Rzeka	47	645	142.0	1-2	0.1 (0.3)	r, ls	3	3
	48	575	26.7	2–3	0.2 (0.4)	r, ls	2	3
Głeboki	49	510	25.3	2–5	0.2 (0.4)	r, ls, s	2	3
Smolnik	50	535	19.5	2-4	0.2 (0.5)	ls, s, g, sa	3	2

Table II. Characteristics of sites in the drainage basins of the rivers Skawa, Czarna and Biała Wisełka, upper Wisłok, upper Wisłoka, and tributaries of the River San middle course (diameter of substratum [cm]: r - rocks, >50; ls - large stones, 15-50; s - stones, 2-15; g - gravel, 0.5-2; sa - sand, <0.5; m - mud).

River	Site	Altitude	Width	Mean depth (max.)	Type of bottom	Cover (in 4 grade scale)	Shading (in 3 grade scale)
		[III]	[III]	[III]			
Hoczewka	51	380	10-15	0.2 (0.7)	r, ls, s	3	2
Osława	52	460	15-30	0.1 (1.0)	r, ls, s	3	1
	53	306	25-35	0.2 (0.8)	ls, r, s, g	2	1
Baryczka	54	250	4-7	0.2 (1.0)	s, g, sa, m	3	3
Stupnica	55	220	6-15	0.2 (0.6)	s, g	2	2
Wiar	56	195	18–20	0.4 (1.0)	g, s, sa	2	1
Wisłok	57	360	12-20	0.2 (1.0)	ls, r, s	3	2
	58	280	5 - 12	0.2 (0.8)	s, g, ls	3	3
	59	260	8-15	0.2 (0.6)	s, g, sa	2	2
Jasiołka	60	254	10-20	0.3 (0.7)	r, ls, s	2	2
Ryjak	61	520	1-2	0.1 (0.5)	s, g, sa	1	2
	62	470	2-4	0.2 (0.7)	ls, s, g	4	3
	63	440	3-4	0.2 (0.4)	ls, s	2	3

continued

River	Site	Altitude	Width	Mean depth	Type of bottom	Cover (in 4 grade	Shading (in 3 grade
		[m]	[m]	(max.) [m]		scale)	scale)
Wisłoka	64	465	4-5	0.3 (0.9)	s, g, sa	4	3
	65	430	4-6	0.4 (1.2)	ls, s, g	2	2
	66	400	4-8	0.3 (0.7)	ls, s	2	2
	67	380	6-15	0.3 (1.5)	s, ls, g	3	1
	68	340	8-15	0.3 (1.5)	r, ls ,s, g	3	2
Krempna	69	480	1-2	0.1 (0.3)	ls, s	1	2
	70	400	2-4	0.1 (0.4)	ls, s, g	4	3
Baranie	71	440	2-3.5	0.2 (0.4)	ls, s	2	3
Hucianka	72	430	2–5	0.2 (0.6)	ls, s	3	3
Wilsznia	73	345	3–5	0.3 (1.0)	s, ls, g	3	2
Reszówka	74	430	1 - 2.5	0.1 (0.5)	s, ls	2	3
Świerzówka	75	470	1–2	0.1 (0.3)	ls, s	2.	3
Rybny Potok	76	825	1-4	0.2 (0.5)	ls, s	4	3
	77	700	4-6	0.2 (0.8)	r, ls	2	2
Jaworzyna	78	720	4-7	0.2 (0.4)	ls, s	2	1
Jałowiec	79	730	2–6	0.2 (0.7)	ls, s	3	3
Skawa	80	315	9-15	0.3 (0.6)	ls, s, g	2	1
	81	295	8-25	0.4 (1.0)	ls, r, g	3	1
	82	280	12 - 20	0.3 (0.7)	ls, r	2	2
	83	265	10-20	0.3 (0.8)	s, g	2	1
	84	245	10-30	0.3 (1.0)	s, ls, g	2	1
	85	215	10-40	0.3 (1.2)	s, ls, g, sa	1	1
Paleczka	86	320	2-10	0.2 (0.6)	ls, g	2	2
Stryszówka	87	320	2–5	0.2 (0.5)	s, g	2	2
Tarnawka	88	325	2-4	0.2 (0.4)	ls, s	2	3
Jaszczurówka	89	280	2–5	0.3 (0.8)	g, s, sa, m	2	3
Czarna Wisełka	90	580	4-8	0.1 (0.5)	ls, s	2	3
Biała Wisełka	91	600	4-10	0.2 (1.0)	ls, s, r	3	2

water pollution has appeared only in some villages owing to intensified tourism (Kukuła 1997b).

On the Osława (65 km in length) and Hoczewka (28 km in length) three sites (51-53) were located. The two rivers flowing into the San below the Solina reservoir have a natural riverbed character but the effects of eutrophication are manifested in their lower sectors. The lower sectors of the tributaries of middle San (Fig.1) were also investigated. The small Baryczka stream (station 54) is marked



Fig. 2. Location of sampling sites on the upper San drainage basin. A – sites; B – Bieszczady National Park; C – state borders; D – water bars and waterfalls.

with distinct anthropogenic changes in its whole course, and in the investigated sector the effect of domestic wastes was observed. The lower course of the Stupnica stream (26 km in length) has slightly changed and in this sector the quantities of pollution inflow are not great (site 55). The River Wiar (70 km in length) at site 56 up to the inflow to the San flows between embanked and strengthened banks and in the physicochemical aspect, its waters fall outside purity class III (Suchy 2001).

In the upper part of the largest San affluent – the River Wisłok (205 km in length) – catches were made at three sites (Fig. 3). Site 57 lies above the Besko reservoir. The Wisłok here is a pure mountain river, with a natural riverbed pattern. The other two stations were located below the dam. The river is partly regulated and fairly pure there.

In the catchment area of the Wisłoka the investigation included the Wisłoka (164 km in length) and seven of its affluents (Fig. 4). The rivers and streams of this area have the character of mountain watercourses with a fairly pronounced bed gradient and a stony bottom. With respect to physicochemical parameters, the waters of this area belong to purity class I (Suchy 2001).

In the River Skawa (96 km in length and a drainage basin of 1160 km^2) catches were conducted at four sites in the Skawica catchment where the investigation included the most important streams of Babia Góra National Park (Fig. 5). In the middle and lower part of the Skawa basin 10 stations were located (Fig. 6). Catches were made in a sector of the Skawa from the village of Zembrzyce to that of



Fig. 3. Sampling sites in the upper Wisłok. A - sites; B - state border.



Fig. 4. Sampling sites in the upper Wisłoka drainage basin. A – sites; 65–68 were taken into consideration in analysing the effect of poaching on the ichthyofauna; Cf. Figs 15 and 16; B – area of Magura National Park; C – state border.



Fig. 5. Sampling sites in Babia Góra National Park. A – sites; B – area of the Park; C – state border.



Fig. 6. Sampling sites in the middle and lower course of the River Skawa.

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

Graboszyce and in mouth sectors of its greater tributaries. In this sector the Skawa waters are in places contaminated with domestic sewage, being in purity class III with respect to physicochemical parameters (Gałaś 1998).

Catches were also made in the headwater part of the Vistula drainage basin (Fig. 7). One site in the Biała Wisełka (site 91) was selected; fish were also sought



Fig. 7. Sampling sites in headwaters of the River Vistula. A - sites; B - water bar.

for in two sectors of the Czarna Wisełka (site 90). The two sectors investigated are fairly similar from the morphometric aspect, distinctly differing by the chemical composition of the water (Wróbel 1995).

3. Material and methods

The material was collected by electrofishing carried out in 1993–2002 with the use of IUP-12 (350 V; 3.5 A; 20–100 Hz) electric impulse equipment. The catches were carried out using the method of once-over passage. Owing to a fairly shallow depth, the fishing was conducted by wading in the water. The length of sectors where the fishing occurred was from about 100 m in the smallest streams to about 250 m in larger rivers. The numbers and weight of caught fish were calculated per 100 m². After catches the fish were identified, counted, and weighed, and then released into the water.

Morphometric traits were evaluated on site whose description was given in Tables I and II. The traits were standardized and used for grouping the sites in the basins of the upper San and upper Wisłoka by cluster analysis (Gauch 1982).

At most sites on the upper San fishing was carried out at least three times: in spring, summer, and autumn, except for stations 11-13 and 50 where one fishing took place in summer. The density of fish at different sites was calculated as the percentage of maximum density of the given species in the entire catchment area, the assumptions presented by Przybylski (1993) being accepted. These values were also used in grouping species by cluster analysis.

For comparison of fish assemblages from the different groups of stations, the number of species at the sites was determined (species abundance - S), diversity indices being applied:

$$H' = -\Sigma p_i \ln p_i$$
$$D = 1/\Sigma (p_i^2)$$

where p_1 is the proportion of the abundance of species i - of this species in the assemblage. The two indices are used since the index H' is a better characteristic of rare species while D applies a greater weight to common species (Krebs 1994).

Of the identified fishes the brown trout *Salmo trutta* m. *fario* L. as a key species (Głowaciński 1994) in the drainage basin of the upper San was analysed on a wider scale.

Changes in biomass and abundance of the more important fish species in the middle course of the River San were estimated on the basis of data collected above the town of Przemyśl in the 1960s (Bieniarz and Epler 1972, Kołder 1973), and also materials from the 1990s made available by the Regional Board of the Polish Angling Union at Rzeszów. In affluents of the San below dam reservoirs, changes in the numbers of fish species were investigated at sites 51, 53–56, the materials collected in 2002 (Kukuła and Amirowicz unpubl.) being compared with data obtained by Rolik (1971) in the 1960s. In estimating abundance the categories accepted by the above author were used.

The effect of pollution on the ichthyofauna was investigated in the Vistula upper course by comparing sites differing in chemical composition and above all by the pH value of the water (Wróbel 1995). In these studies the Skawa was also taken into consideration as the last important affluent of the upper Vistula, where no dam reservoir had yet been constructed. Here the changes in the ichthyofauna composition could have been above all induced by water pollution, particularly distinct in the 1980s and 1990s (Turzański 1999). The data obtained from the Skawa basin in 1995–1998 (Kukuła 2000b) were compared with materials collected in the same sectors in the 1970s and 1980s (Skóra and Włodek 1991).

The problems of poaching were considered, using as examples the streams flowing across three national parks (Babia Góra National Park – BgNP, Bieszczady National Park - BdNP, and Magura National Park - MNP). In all three parks fishing is absolutely forbidden. In estimating the intensity of poaching attention was paid to all traces of fishing (such as fishing lines, remaining remnants of bait, or characteristic trodden places on river banks). At some of these places poachers were observed. The general estimate of poaching intensity was based on information supplied by workers in the parks. Their opinion helped to determine that within protected areas the pressure of poaching, particularly in the zones of strict protection of nature, was less than outside them. In BgNP out of four analysed sites only station 76 did not suffer from poaching (Kukuła 2003a). In BdNP two pairs of similar sites were elected (stations 32 and 33, and 42 and 43). In the period of investigation sites 33 and 43 were within the reach of the poachers' activity, while the corresponding sites 32 and 42 were not subject to such pressure. In MNP the selection of sites was based on similar principles. At stations 65 and 67 poachers' catches were recorded while at stations 66 and 68 no signs of poaching, or only sporadic events were noted (Kukuła 2002).

The effect of dam reservoirs on the ichthyofauna was estimated by analysing the situation in the drainage basin of the Solina reservoir and in the Wisłok sector in the region of the Besko dam reservoir. In the above dams no fish-passes had been installed.

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

A great part of the upper Vistula catchment is afforested (Fabijanowski and Jaworski 1995) and forest management was frequently damaging to water ecosystems. Here sites 38 and 41 in the Bieszczady Mts can be quoted as examples. Up to the early 1990s, before the BdNP was enlarged, forest works were conducted in this region using streams as roads for wood transport (Kukuła unpubl.). The hydrological and morphological conditions of the two sites were very similar. On the basis of interviews with foresters and the author's own observation site 38 was estimated as strongly devastated while station 41 was not changed in the course of forest works. The Fulton (K) condition coefficient was calculated for Siberian sculpin individuals caught there (Opuszyński 1983).

Analysis of changes in the distribution range of the most important fish species for Carpathian rivers and streams was based on the occurrence of fish at 125 sites located on those rivers (Fig. 1). There electrofishing was conducted in the 1960s and 1970s and repeated in the late 1980s or later (Rolik 1971, Skóra 1972, Bieniarz and Epler 1972, Kołder 1973, Kołder et al. 1974, Skóra and Włodek 1989a, 1991, Starmach et al. 1988, Włodek and Skóra 1992, Skóra et al. 1994, Augustyn and Bieniarz 1995, Augustyn et al. 1996, 1998, Starmach 1998, Kukuła 1999, 2003a, Kukuła unpubl., Kukuła and Amirowicz unpubl.). The waters investigated in the two periods mentioned above were taken into consideration, the data concerning the presence or absence of species at the sites being compared by the Eklöv et al. (1998) method based on contingency table analysis. The same statistical method was used in comparing fish communities in the middle course of the San, Wisłok, and Wisłoka.

The mean values of density and biomass of fish for the different groups of stations in the drainage basin of the upper San and the mean densities and biomass of species occurring in all the groups of watercourses were statistically verified using one way analysis of variance, the t-test or the Kruskal-Wallis test and the U-test. For the grouping of means the Tukey test was used. Differences between the mean density values in various seasons of the year within the groups of sites for species occurring in at least half the stations in the group were estimated using the Friedman test and by calculating the Kendall's coefficient of concordance W (Zar 1984).

Data concerning the condition of the ichthyofauna were supplemented by polling and interviewing anglers. This method of gathering data was used with respect to the upper Vistula, streams of the Silesian Beskid Range, and drainage basins of the Soła, Skawa, Wisłoka, and San. The materials obtained were used for supplementing the chapter "Results" with sections dealing with Poaching and Degree of threat to the ichthyofauna. The presented general estimate of the degree of threat to fish species and lampreys in the Carpathian affluents of the River Vistula was based on the classification of threats elaborated by the International Union of Nature Protection (Głowaciński 1997, Witkowski et al. 1999).

4. Results

In the course of the investigation carried out in the Carpathian affluents of the River Vistula from 1993–2002 over 21 thousand fish of 688 kg body weight representing 21 species were caught (Table III). In the collected material the minnow *Phoxinus phoxinus* L., Siberian sculpin *Cottus poecilopus* Heck, and chub *Leuciscus cephalus* (L.) were most abundantly represented. In the biomass chub, brown trout, and nase prevailed. The highest occurrence stability was found for the brown trout, Siberian sculpin, and minnow.

Species	I	V	I	3	С
	[ind.]	%	[g]	%	
Alburnoides bipunctatus	455	2.10	4781	0.70	21.1
Alburnus alburnus	561	2.59	16074	2.34	18.9
Barbatula barbatula	1438	6.65	16136	2.35	53.3
Barbus barbus	128	0.59	16511	2.40	7.8
Barbus carpathicus	1629	7.53	62170	9.04	38.9
Chondrostoma nasus	243	1.12	83519	12.15	12.2
Cottus gobio	88	0.41	978	0.14	13.3
Cottus poecilopus	4004	18.51	32033	4.66	77.8
Esox lucius	5	0.02	286	0.04	3.3
Gobio gobio	805	3.72	10468	1.52	22.2
Gobio albipinnatus	5	0.02	40	0.01	1.1
Gymnocephalus cernuus	2	0.01	43	0.01	2.2
Hucho hucho	1	0.01	1200	0.17	1.1
Leuciscus cephalus	2505	11.58	219226	31.89	38.9
Leuciscus leuciscus	209	0.97	12574	1.83	27.8
Oncorhynchus mykiss	4	0.02	596	0.09	3.3
Perca fluviatilis	412	1.90	11329	1.65	25.6
Phoxinus phoxinus	6697	30.96	36169	5.26	63.3
Rutilus rutilus	358	1.65	12969	1.89	18.9
Salmo trutta m. fario	1841	8.51	132245	19.24	88.9
Thymallus thymallus	242	1.12	18136	2.64	25.6
Total	21632	100	687483	100	

Table III. Species composition, relative numbers (N), biomass (B), and stability of occurrence (C) of the ichthyofauna in Carpathian tributaries of the River Vistula in the years 1993–2002.

4.1. Fish assemblages in the River San catchment

On the basis of morphometric traits, the stations located in the upper San drainage basin were divided into five groups (Fig. 8). Group A was composed of the upper courses of streams with a great bed gradient and a small width and depth. The streams in group B were characterized by a smaller gradient and a slightly greater number of hadeaways accessible to fish. Group C included the middle courses of larger streams and lower courses of small brooks. In group D the width of watercourses reached 12 m while the gradients did not exceed 16‰. Group E included rivers with a considerable width of riverbed. In numerous sectors the bottom was covered with small stones and gravel (Table I).

In different seasons of the year differences were observed in the abundance of fish species occurring in the catchment area. In spring, 13, in summer, 16, and in autumn 14 species were recorded. Differences were found in the density of fish at the sites and between the groups of sites (Fig. 9). At the sites of group A two species at the most occurred throughout the year – the Siberian scuplin and brown trout. In group B apart from the above species the minnow was found in a few sites. In spring the spawners of the roach *Rutilus rutilus* (L.) were observed. In summer and autumn the minnow occurred in most sites of group C. Some other species such as grayling *Thymallus thymallus* (L.) and perch *Perca fluviatilis* L. were also observed in a few places. At the sites of group D the number of occurring



Fig. 8. Dendrogram of 50 sampling sites in the upper San basin formed by cluster analysis based on morphometric characteristics. A-E – groups of sites.



Fig. 9. Density of fish at different sites in the upper San basin calculated as percentages of the maximum density of a given species in the entire river catchment. A–E – groups of sites.

http://rcin.org.pl





Fig. 9. Continued

species ranged from 9 in autumn to 13 in summer. In the rivers of group E, 15 fish species were recorded. In this zone only the occurrence of the gudgeon *Gobio gobio* (L.) and nase were determined, the latter being found only in summer.

Among the more numerous species of the upper course of the San, statistically significant differences appeared in mean density and mean biomass in the individual groups of sites (Table IV). The greatest density and biomass of Siberian sculpin was observed in the highest sectors of streams (group A) throughout the year. A similar density was recorded only in zone C in summer and with respect to biomass in zone B in autumn. The density and biomass of the minnow, abundantly occurring in the catchment of the upper San, showed significant differences only in spring. Significant differences in density and biomass were found for stone loach *Barbatula barbatula* (L.). This species preferred larger watercourses (groups D and E), most abundantly occurring there. In the remaining groups, except for the grayling, significant differences in density and/or biomass were noted only in summer.

Of the investigated fish species the Siberian sculpin showed the greatest stability and, apart from group C (CV=60.3), the coefficient of variation for this species (CV 30.9-43.9) varied in the range determined by Freeman et al. (1988) as moderately stable. The brown trout which, like the Siberian sculpin, occurs in all the groups of stations, was characterized by a medium or high fluctuation in abundance at all sites. In zone D high coefficients of variation were found for the chub and spotted barbel, while in group E the coefficients for these species were fairly low. Out of 15 species found at the sites of group E most were characterized by high coefficients of variation (Table V). The highest mean coefficient of variation for the abundance of species was obtained in group E and the lowest in group B. For the species which occurred at least at half the sites of the given group, significant differences were found between mean densities in various seasons of the year in places where high coefficients of variation were determined, i.e. in groups C-E (Table VI).

Statistical analysis showed no significant differences between the mean values of biodiversity indices in groups A or B. However, the mean values of the D coefficient at the sites of group C, the species abundance (S) in group D, and all the indices in group E were significantly higher in summer (P<0.05; Fig. 10).

In each season of the year three cenological groups of species were determined. In spring the first group was composed of the brown trout and Siberian sculpin (Fig. 11), the second of the minnow with grayling and stone loach; besides these there occurred the chub, dace *Leuciscus leuciscus* (L.), bleak *Alburnus alburnus* (L.), and roach *Rutilus rutilus* (L.). The third group contained the spotted barbel *Barbus carpathicus* (Kotlík et al.) with the perch, gudgeon, and bullhead *Cottus gobio* L. Three groups could have been identified also in summer. The composition of the second and third groups changed and in the case of the second group the minnow and grayling were accompanied by the dace, perch, and the spirlin *Alburnoides bipunctatus* (Bloch). In autumn, in the first group the brown trout and Siberian sculpin were found with minnow, grayling, and perch (Fig. 11).

The brown trout commonly occurring in the San basin did not show statistically significant differences either with respect to density or biomass between the groups of sites A-E (Table IV). However, in the groups of sites the mean body weight of individuals differed significantly (Table VII). In the upper course of streams (sites of group A), small, chiefly individuals of brown trout were caught, their abundance being somewhat low (Fig. 12). In large rivers (group E) this species was fairly rare and individuals of various length classes were encountered. At the sites of group C

Table IV. Mean (A-B - groups c differences; subg	of sit	sity (N) ces dist is under	and bic inguishe rlined).	omass (F ed on th	3) of the e basis (more ab of morph	undant fis ometric p	sh specie arameter	s in the rs; *** -	P<0.00	San drair 1; ** – I	lage basir ?<0.01; *	i in vari - P<0.0	ous seat 5; NS –	sons of t non-sig	he year nificant	20
Species	S	pring					Summer					Autumn					
	1	A	В	C	D	ы	A	В	C	D	ы	A	В	C	D	ы	
	2	64.5	43.9	28.1	27.0	10.5	41.2	26.3	26.8	13.8	6.1	35.9	20.4	17.5	11.4	2.0	
Cottus	4	*** <u>A</u> E	SCD CD	떼			** <u>AC</u>]	BCD DE				** <u>A</u> <u>B</u> (DE				
poecilopus	p	50.5	29.3	26.2	22.9	13.0	31.2	16.7	17.1	9.3	5.9	39.5	23.9	20.0	15.4	3.6	
	9	* A BC	DE				** <u>A</u> <u>B</u> (CDE				* AB B	CDE				
	2	23.7	25.3	23.8	9.4	14.1	18.7	14.6	30.8	9.4	7.3	18.3	14.0	35.0	8.3	2.7	
Salmo trutta	4	NS					NS					NS					
m. fario	р	8.5	15.9	23.0	12.5	17.3	14.0	13.6	32.8	14.1	12.9	8.9	6.0	24.0	8.8	4.0	
	9	SN					NS					NS					
	N	1	4.6	5.2	55.4	24.9	t	10.6	25.5	37.0	19.0	I	3.9	14.9	8.2	3.7	
Phoxinus	4	*** BC	CED				NS					NS					
phoxinus	ρ	I	2.1	3.0	49.1	14.5	1	13.9	28.0	45.3	19.6	1	4.5	15.1	19.1	3.4	
	9	*** BCI	E D				NS					SN					
	2	1	1	2.9	29.6	17.5	1	1.4	4.0	15.9	52.3	1	1	1.9	23.9	41.0	
Barbatula	4	** CE 1	OE				*** BC	CDE				* C DE					1
barbatula	ď	1	I	1.1	20.0	10.1	I	1.2	5.0	17.5	53.1	1	1	2.5	26.4	43.7	K. Ku
	2	** CE I	OE				*** <u>BC</u>	<u>CD</u> <u>E</u>				* C DE					kuła

20

85.0		58.8		68.3		61.3		8.4		31.4		1.6		2.7
27.1		29.2		27.2		19.4		14.1		46.4		14.3		14.3
1		T		r		1		21.4		6.4		2.9		3.7
1		I		T		ſ		T		1	D	1		1
1	*	1	NS	T	SN	1	*	I	SN	1	*** CE	i	NS	1
52.7		54.7		56.5		81.2		23.0		26.5		22.0		64.7
21.2		28.5		36.4		42.6		43.8		32.2		9.8		17.7
2.5		1.5		2.1		2.2		8.3		0.4		8.5		8.8
T	뙤	I	国	1.2	DE	1.4	DE	1		I	DE	1		1
1	*** <u>C</u> <u>D</u>	I	*** C D	T	*** BC	I	*** BC	1	NS	1	*** CE	1	NS	1
38.4		49.1		37.9		39.9		6.7		7.8		31.9		28.8
22.6		31.8		29.6		23.4		18.9		19.4		8.9		14.3
1		1		i		ı		1		1		ī		1
1		1		ι		1		1		I,	•,	1		Ţ
I	NS	1	NS	i	NS	1	SN	1	SN	1	SN	1	SN	1
2	2	P	٩	N	4	P	٩	Z	4	P	٩	N	5	В
	Barbus	carpathicus			Leuciscus	cephalus			Thymallus	thymallus			Perca	fluviatilis

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1–63

SN

CDE **

NS

and the second second				(Group o	of strea	m			
Species	I	ł]	В	(C	I	D	E	}
	CV	SD	CV	SD	CV	SD	CV	SD	CV	SD
Cottus poecilopus	43.9	24.2	35.5	22.4	60.3	28.4	30.9	21.5	36.4	18.7
Salmo trutta m. fario	66.7	62.3	62.0	46.0	82.6	36.7	56.5	27.5	77.1	35.2
Phoxinus phoxinus					73.5	61.7	65.5	20.7	33.6	26.7
Barbatula barbatula							85.3	53.2	86.1	38.0
Barbus carpathicus							70.8	73.4	48.2	36.6
Leuciscus cephalus							81.0	62.5	46.5	30.1
Thymallus thymallus							64.8	44.6	96.3	56.9
Perca fluviatilis									135.6	44.4
Leuciscus leuciscus							89.1	66.2	138.2	41.5
Alburnus alburnus									116.4	66.2
Cottus gobio									85.2	29.7
Rutilus rutilus									98.0	74.3
Gobio gobio									77.4	71.5
Alburnoides bipunctatus									77.7	90.9
Chondrostoma nasus									129.9	86.6

Table V. Mean coefficients of variation of the species determined in at least half of sites in a given group.

Table VI. Evaluation of differences in the mean density of the species occurring in at least half of sites in groups (A-E) in various seasons of the year.

Group of stream	CV	SD	W	Friedm	an's test
				χ^2	Р
A	55	47.6	0.750	3.00	>0.05
В	49	37.9	0.246	2.95	>0.05
С	72	44.0	0.633	12.67	< 0.01
D	68	50.1	0.531	14.86	< 0.001
Е	86	58.3	0.767	23.06	< 0.0001

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63



Fig. 10. Biodiversity coefficients (S – species abundance, H – Shannon-Wiener index of diversity, D – Simpson index of diversity) in groups of streams in the upper San basin. A-E – groups of sites; NS – non-significant differences.



Fig. 11. Cenologic communities of fish in the upper San basin. Pp - P. phoxinus; St - S. trutta m. fario; Bb - B. barbatula; Cp - C. poecilopus; Cg - C. gobio; Lc - L. cephalus; Ll - L. leuciscus; Bc - B. carpathicus; Tt - T. thymallus; Pf - P. fluviatilis; Rr - R. rutilus; Om - O. mykiss; Cn - C. nasus; Ab - A. bipunctatus; Gg - G. gobio; Aa - A. alburnus.

24

Table VII. Body weight (g) of brown trout in the basin of the San upper course (means for groups significantly differing in the seasons of the year; P<0.0001; the Kruskal-Wallis test; the Tukey test – subgroups underlined).

Group of stream	Spring					Summe					Autumr				
	п	min	max	mean	SD	ц	min	max	mean	SD	u	min	max	mean	SD
A	14	6.7	60.1	30.4	17.8	35,	4.7	258.0	45.8	51.8	26	6.5	116.0	44.0	39.6
В	41	6.6	155.1	52.9	38.9	67	0.6	188.5	58.6	39.4	54	4.8	170.0	43.1	33.7
C	57	6.5	162.9	70.9	43.6	141	1.3	321.0	77.8	61.1	147	3.7	805.0	66.0	93.3
D	23	27.0	343.0	108.1	60.5	67	7.6	352.0	108.7	78.5	41	7.0	285.0	108.1	86.1
Ε	30	50.0	154.3	100.8	31.1	51	3.0	451.0	122.2	65.2	14	89.5	300.0	148.0	62.9
				H=45.7	6 DE				H=64.4 ABC C	3 D DE				H=39.1 ABD C	4 DE



Fig. 12. Histogram of the brown trout S. trutta m. fario body weight in groups of sites in the upper San basin. A-E – groups of sites.

http://rcin.org.pl

the brown trout appeared most abundantly. They were both of the youngest age class and also older individuals, while in autumn the spawners and that-year fry were most frequently found in this part of the drainage basin (Fig. 12).

In the investigation of the ichthyofauna of the San and its affluents below the Solina reservoir changes were observed in the participation of the more important fish species (Fig. 13, Table VIII). In the River San middle course, differences between the fish assemblage found in 1960 (Bieniarz and Epler 1972, Kołder 1973) and those from 1993 (data supplied by the Polish Angling Union) were significant (for the biomass: $\chi^2 = 41.55$, P<0.001; for numbers $\chi^2 = 387.26$; P<0.001). A significant decrease in numbers concerned the nase ($\chi^2 = 169.354$, P<0.001), barbel ($\chi^2 = 8.534$, P<0.01), spirlin ($\chi^2 = 42.998$, P<0.001), and spotted barbel ($\chi^2 = 14.726$, P<0.001). A decrease in biomass concerned the nase ($\chi^2 = 24.641$, P<0.001) and vimba *Vimba vimba* (L.) ($\chi^2 = 6.913$, P<0.01). Increases were found in the share of the chub ($\chi^2 = 8.786$, P<0.01) and barbel ($\chi^2 = 18.475$, P<0.001) in biomass, and of gudgeon ($\chi^2 = 288.041$, P<0.001) in abundance. In the San tributaries a decrease in the share of the nase, barbel, and chub was most pronounced. The abundance of minnow increased. At station 55 the grayling and huchen *Hucho hucho* (L.) were observed (Table VIII).



Fig. 13. Percentage share of fish species in numbers and biomass in the River San middle course.

http://rcin.org.pl

02	
20	
11);	
19'	
ik (
Rol	
to	
ng	
rdi	
CCO	
8 3	
dat	
*)	
rse	
cou	
lle	
bid	
n n	
Sa	
ver	
Ri	
the	
of	
ries	
utai	
ribı	
le t	
n th	
n ii	
itio	
pos	ldu
mo	dur
a c	CZ 1
aur	iwo
yof	nir
hth	IAI
e ic	and
th	ıła
s in	ukı
lge	o K
har	lg t
I. O	rdin
VII	CCOL
le	aa
Tab	dat

n
ð
R
2

Species					River	(site)				
	Hoczewka	(51)	Osława (5	3)	Baryczka	(54)	Stupnica ((55)	Wiar (56)	
	1968*	2002	1968*	2002	1968*	2002	1968*	2002	1968*	2002
Abramis bjoerkna	1	1	1	1	I	I	1	Т	\$2	Т
Alburnoides bipunctatus	5-10	5-10	5-10	20-25	15-20	1	15-20	15-20	10-15	\$5
Alburnus alburnus	I	1	1	1	I	1	5-10	1	<5	>25
Barbatula barbatula	20-25	10-15	10-15	10-15	5-10	10-15	<5	\$2	T	1
Barbus barbus	\$	1	10-15	1	1	1	5-10	1	<5	\$2
Barbus cyclolepis	\$2	r	10-15	1	€5	1	<5	1	€5	1
Barbus carpathicus	15-20	20-25	15-20	5-10	5-10	1	1	1	5-10	1
Carassius auratus gibelio	1	1	<5 5	1	1	1	1	T	1	1
Chondrostoma nasus	\$5	1	5-10	1	<5	1	5-10	\$2	>25	5-10
Cottus gobio	\$	<5	<5 5	1	€5	I	1	1	1	1
Gobio gobio	\$2	1	5-10	15-20	>25	\$5	15-20	10-15	10-15	<5 5
Gobio albipinnatus	T	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	\$2
Gymnocephalus cernuus	1	ч	<5 5	1	T	1	1	1	1	1
Hucho hucho	1	1	1	1	I	T	I	\$2	1	1
Leuciscus cephalus	10-15	1	10-15	\$2	15-20	10-15	>25	20-25	20-25	5-10
Leuciscus leuciscus	\$	1	1	€5	5-10	1	1	5-10	1	€5
Phoxinus phoxinus	>25	>25	5-10	>25	5-10	>25	<5	15-20	1	\$°
Rhodeus sericeus	1	1	2 2	1	T	I	1	I	1	1
Rutilus rutilus	1	1	I	\$5	\$2	I	I	1	1	<5
Salmo trutta m. fario	1	\$	1	1	<55	5-10	1	5-10	I	
Thymallus thymallus	ı	L	1	1	1	1	1	5-10	I	1
Tinca tinca	1	1	\$5	1	1	1	I.	1	ı	t
Number of species	11	9	14	8	12	5	6	10	6	11

1

4.2. Pollution of waters

In the 1970s and 1980s pollution of the Vistula headwaters caused a considerable decrease in pH value of the waters in the Czarna Wisełka – periodically even below 5. In the Biała Wisełka the reaction was maintained at a level of about 6.5-7 (Wróbel 1995). In 1993 fish were found only in the Biała Wisełka (Table IX) with brown trout as the dominant. No fish were caught in any of the investigated sectors of the Czarna Wisełka.

Stream	Site	Year		Species	
			S. trutta m. fario	C. poecilopus	P. phoxinus
Biała Wisełka	91	1958 1993	6.9 10.7	0.14 8.0	present –
Czarna Wisełka	90	1958 1993	present _	present —	Ξ

Table IX. Fish densities in headwater streams of the River Vistula (ind. 100 m⁻²).

In the 1980s and 1990s in relation to the earlier condition a distinct worsening of water quality was determined in the Skawa drainage basin (Turzański 1999). In relation to earlier studies by Skóra and Włodek (1991) on the River Skawa, a very distinct decrease in the percentage of nase with respect to abundance and biomass was found on five sites (Tables X and XI). A similar regress appeared in the case of the barbel. Only in site 80 was an increase noted in the occurrence of these species. A reverse tendency was found with the chub and in all six sites investigated its percentage share in abundance and, except site 80, in biomass, increased. With respect to abundance, a significant increase in the share of the roach was everywhere determined, apart from the lower river sector (station 85). In almost the entire investigated river sector the occurrence of the stone loach increased (Table X).

and Włodek (1989) and la	ate 1990s.	B - accor	ding to Ku	kuła (1999	9) in perce	entage of r	numbers o	f the caugh	nt fish.			
Species						Si	te					
	8	0	81		80	2	8	60	80	4	80	2
	A	B	A	B	A	B	A	В	A	В	A	B
Barbatula barbatula	22.4	29.6	0.7	5.4	6.0	12.2	3.0	9.6	4.5	3.1	0.7	1.8
Barbus barbus	1.5	4.3	23.9	0.9	11.9	5.2	11.9	0.6	22.4	2.1	11.9	1.2
Barbus carpathicus	19.4	21.7	14.9	14.8	10.4	28.0	26.1	24.4	10.4	5.2	10.4	0.6
Chondrostoma nasus	6.7	14.8	38.8	6.7	16.4	6.1	29.9	2.6	36.6	2.1	38.1	2.1
Gobio gobio	4.5	0.8	4.5	6.7	10.4	2.4	4.5	2.6	11.9	6.2	3.7	7.6
Leuciscus cephalus	2.2	14.6	6.0	38.1	19.4	22.2	19.4	30.5	6.0	43.1	9.0	60.8
Phoxinus phoxinus	37.3	5.9	6.0	4.9	11.9	12.2	1.5	13.7	2.2		0.7	
Rutilus rutilus		2.4		15.3		7.0		2.9		8.6	17.9	16.7
Salmo trutta m. fario	1.5	9.0	0.7	6.0	10.4	2.1	0.7	3.2	+			
others	4.5	5.3	4.5	6.3	3.2	2.6	3.0	1.5	6.0	29.6	7.6	9.2
	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Table X. Participation of selected species in materials sampled in the River Skawa in 1970s and 1980s. A - according to figures given by Skóra

http://rcin.org.pl

K. Kukuta

30
Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1–63 Table XI. Participation of selected species in the material sampled in the Skawa in 1970s and 1980s. A - (according to figures given by Skóra

4.3. Poaching

In the streams of BgNP the brown trout occurred in four sites (Table XII). Significant differences in average weight (H=9.337, P<0.05) and average length (H=10.167, P<0.05) were recorded in various sites. The decidedly greatest density of the brown trout was noted in site 76 lying deep inside the Park.

Table XII. Mean weight (g), total length (mm), and biomass (g 100 m^{-2}) of brown trout S. trutta m. fario from streams of the Babia Góra National Park (August 19, 1998).

Site	n	Mean body weight [g]	Mean total length [mm]	Density [ind. 100 m ⁻²]	Biomass [g 100 m ⁻²]
76	22	38.57	147.4	22.2	856.3
77	22	27.15	109.4	8.0	217.2
78	28	30.54	119.3	13.5	412.3
79	15	53.60	154.9	8.8	471.7

In the upper San basin in two streams analysed, significantly higher average body weights (df=108, P<0.001) and total lengths (df=108, P<0.05) were recorded in sites which, on the basis of collected information, could have been regarded as not subject to poaching (stations 32 and 42) – in comparison with sites 33 and 43 where the poaching was fairly frequent (Fig. 14).



Fig. 14. Mean total length (A) and body weight (B) of the brown trout S. trutta m. fario in the upper San basin at sites with no traces of poaching (0) and with poaching damage (1).

Two pairs of sites (65–66 and 67–68) similar with respect to their morphometric traits but differing in the intensity of poaching were compared in MNP (Fig. 15). Significant differences were found between fish assemblages in these two pairs of sites both with respect to abundance and biomass (Fig. 16).



Fig. 15. Dendrogram of 15 sites of fish catches in the upper Wisłoka basin formed by cluster analysis on the basis of morphometric traits (the distinguished sites were compared on account of poaching).



Fig. 16. Mean density and mean biomass of fish caught in the upper Wisłoka (July, 20–21, 1998). 65–68 sites of catches; Pp - P. phoxinus; St - S. trutta m. fario; Bba - B. barbatula; Cp - C. poecilopus; Lc - L. cephalus; Ll - L. leuciscus; Bc - B. carpathicus; Tt - T. thymallus; Ab - A. bipunctatus; Gg - G. gobio; Aa - A. alburnus.

4.4. Dam reservoirs

Of 50 sites investigated in the upper San basin above the Solina reservoir, the occurrence of the perch and/or the roach was noted in 13 in 1993–2002 (Fig. 17). These species were encountered in the San and Solinka and in the Wołosaty stream. Their mean density and mean biomass were high at some stations, this particularly concerning the perch (Fig. 18).

In the sector of the River Wisłok directly affected by the dam reservoir at Besko significant changes in the composition of ichthyofauna were determined in site 57 above the reservoir and site 58 below it (Fig. 19). In relation to data from 1977 (Pasternak and Wajdowicz 1983), the number of occurring species had increased from four to seven. At the same time, a decrease in the abundance of minnow and a pronounced share of perch were observed. Above the reservoir in site 58 the ichthyofauna composition also considerably changed, with a greater share of the chub and minnow, appearance of the roach and bleak, and a decrease in the abundance of the barbel and spotted barbel (Fig. 19). In relation to data collected by Rolik (1971) in the Wisłok above the reservoir in 1968, the percentage of the minnow, barbel, and the spirlin had distinctly decreased and that of the perch and



Fig. 17. Occurrence of the perch *P. fluviatilis* and roach *R. rutilus* in the upper San basin. A – occurrence of perch and roach; B – occurrence of perch; C – occurrence of roach; D – both species absent; E – area of Bieszczady National Park; F – water bars and waterfalls.

gudgeon increased (Table XIII). Below the reservoir in site 58 numbers of the chub, minnow, bleak, and roach increased while a regress was noted in the case of the nase, barbel, and spirlin. In site 59 the absence of the barbel in catches was most pronounced.

Sites	100% -														Dens	ity (ii	nd. 10	0 m^{-2}
7	E		-	_	_		_	1	4.4	-								15.9
40		-					-	-	0.5									18.5
8									8.8									18.8
10									5.5									7.4
14				_					6.7						1.7			11.7
15					-				6.1						1.5		-	8.5
24		We	-												4.4			8.5
25		-					_	-	5.0	_		-			1.7			14.0
26									8.0									8.1
27				-	_		-		6.3						4.8			7.8
12									1.2									10.4
13				_	-				1.5		_	1						14.0
	100% T														Bio	mass	(g 10	0 m ⁻²)
7	₀].	_	22						6.7		-							558.6
40		-							0.8									225.5
8			-		-				6.2									460.6
10		-				-			8.4	_								239.6
14						_			5.4						1.0			523.5
15		-	_						5.9	-		-			1.3	-		324.8
24	1	_													1.3			128.5
25			_	_	_			_	2.5	_		- 19			1.2			814.3
26			-			_		-	2.8					-		-		645.3
27									5.0			_			2.7	-		496.4
12			-	-					2.0									254.0
13									1.6				-					600.5
																\$		
		s	fario	50 00	m 00.	SUS	2 2	5 5		5 5	des	stom	0.0			mchu		
		Cottus	Salmo trutta m.	Phoxinus	Barbatul	Barbus carpathik	Leuciscu cephalus	Thymallu	Perca	Leuciscu	Alburnol bipuncta	Chondro	Alburnus	Cottus gobio	Rutilus rutilus	Oncorthy mykiss	Gobio gobio	

Fig. 18. Percentage of fish species caught in electrofishing in the upper San basin at sites where the perch or roach were recorded.

36

http://rcin.org.pl



Fig. 19. Changes in the ichthyofauna composition at sites above (site 57) and below (site 58) the Besko dam reservoir on the River Wisłok. Pp - P. phoxinus; St - S. trutta m. fario; Bba - B. barbatula; Bb - B. barbus; Bc - B. carpathicus; Cp - C. poecilopus; Cg - C. gobio; Lc - L. cephalus; Gc - G. cernuus; Ll - L. leuciscus; Tt - T. thymallus; Pf - P. fluviatilis; Rr - R. rutilus; Cn - C. nasus; Ab - A. bipunctatus; Gg - G. gobio; Aa - A. alburnus.

Table XIII. Changes in the ichthyofauna composition of the River Wisłok on the basis of percentages of different species in electrofishing catches (* – according to Rolik 1971; 2002 – data according to Kukuła and Amirowicz unpubl.)

Species	Site number									
	57		5	8	59					
	1968*	2002	1968*	2002	1968*	2002				
Alburnoides bipunctatus	10-15	<5	20-25	10-15	15-20	<5				
Alburnus alburnus	-	-	-	5-10	<5	<5				
Barbatula barbatula	5-10	<5	<5	<5	-	<5				
Barbus barbus	-	-	10-15	<5	20-25	-				
Barbus cyclolepis	-	-	<5	-	5-10	-				
Barbus carpathicus	>25	-	15-20	<5	-	<5				
Chondrostoma nasus	-	-	20-25	-	<5	<5				
Cottus gobio	-	-	-	<5	10-15	20-25				
Gobio gobio	-	10-15	5-10	10-15	20-25	20-25				
Gobio kessleri			<5	-	<5					
Gymnocephalus cernuus	-	-	-	<5	-	-				
Leuciscus cephalus	20-25	10-15	<5	>25	5-10	10 - 15				
Leuciscus leuciscus	-		-	<5	<5	10-15				
Perca fluviatilis	-	>25	-	<5	-	-				
Phoxinus phoxinus	10-15	<5	5-10	20-25	<5	-				
Rutilus rutilus	-	-	-	5-10	<5	5-10				
Salmo trutta m. fario	<5	-	<5	<5	-	-				
Thymallus thymallus	-	-	-	<5	-	-				
Number of species	6	6	11	15	12	9				

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

4.5. Forest works

In a stream whose bed was devastated in the course of forestry works (site 38) only the occurrence of the Siberian sculpin was determined. Its average biomass and length were much lower than in site 41 where the riverbed preserved its natural character (Table XIV). The condition coefficient for the Siberian sculpin was significantly lower in site 38 than in site 41 (the t-test = -2.833, df = 38, P<0.01) (Fig. 20).

Table XIV. Mean density (ind. 100 m^{-2}) and biomass of fish (g 100 m⁻²) at sites in the streams Nasiczniański (41) and Rzeczyca (38).

Species	Site									
	4	1	38							
	Abundance	Biomass	Abundance	Biomass						
Cottus poecilopus	21.5	156.4	12.7	67.3						
Salmo trutta m. fario	2.4	29.1		-						



Fig. 20. Condition coefficient (K) of the Siberian sculpin *C. peocilopus* from the streams Rzeczyca (site 38) and Nasiczniański (site 41).

4.6. Temporary changes in the distribution of species in the catchment area

Analysis of changes in the occurrence of species in 125 sites located in the Carpathian affluents of the River Vistula showed significant differences ($\chi^2 = 33.67$, P<0.01) in the number of sites where these species were found in the two periods compared (Fig. 21). Statistically significant differences were determined in the case of the perch ($\chi^2 = 7.771$, P<0.01) and roach ($\chi^2 = 4.209$, P<0.05), which occurred in a greater number of sites. With respect to the barbel ($\chi^2 = 3.842$, P<0.05) and spirlin ($\chi^2 = 10.492$, P<0.01), a significant decrease was recorded.





4.7. The degree of threat to the ichthyofauna

Among the species encountered in the Carpathian part of some affluents of the Vistula (Table XV) three (the Atlantic sturgeon, Atlantic salmon, and sea trout) are classed as extinct in the entire or some part of the discussed area. The first two species have not occurred in the investigated catchment basin for several decades. Sporadic information about catches of the sea trout by anglers should be verified. However, it is possible that attempts during the last two years to restore the Atlantic salmon and sea trout in the Carpathians will be successful.

In the group of threatened species are fish characteristic of mountain and submontane sectors of rivers, i.e., the spirlin, barbel, nose, bullhead, and vimba. The author's studies showed a decrease in the abundance and distribution area of these species. The critically threatened spirlin still forms fairly abundant populations only in some affluents of the San, in the Wisłoka, and Jasiołka. The species is rarely encountered in the remaining basins. The barbel and nase, which used to prevail in the middle sectors of the Carpathian affluents of the Vistula (Kołder 1961, Włodek 1975), now rarely appear more abundantly in the catches (Tables X and XI) and their numbers are smaller than in previous years. Vimba is also endangered to a great degree. The latter species is found sligtly more frequently in the submontane part of the River San, in the vicinity of the towns of Dynów and Przemyśl.

A distinct regress is also observed in the case of the brook lamprey Lampetra planeri (Bloch), bitterling Rhodeus sericeus (Pall.), and burbot Lota lota (L.). In the catches of 1993–2002 no fishes of the above species were recorded (Table III) but the verified polling data showed their occurrence in some places. The bitterling was found in the Wisłoka above Jasło, burbot in the Wisłok above Rzeszów and in the

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

Table XV. Species composition and categories of threat to the ichthyofauna (according to IUCN/WCU in: Głowaciński 1997) within the selected basins of the River Vistula affluents (symbols of species: EXP – extinct in Poland, CE – critically endangered; EN – endangered; VU – vulnerable; CD – conservation dependent; NT – near threatened; LC – least concern; DD – data deficient; NE – not evaluated; IN – introduced).

Species	Upper Vistula	Skawa	Wisłoka	Wisłok	San
Abramis bjoerkna (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Abramis brama (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Acipenser sturio L.	EXP		EXP	EXP	EXP
Alburnoides bipunctatus (Bloch)	CE	CE	VU	CE	VU
Alburnus alburnus (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Anguilla anguilla (L.)	CD	CD	CD	CD	CD
Aspius aspius (L.)	EN	VU	NT	NT	NT
Barbatula barbatula (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Barbus barbus (L.)	EN	VU	VU	EN	VU
Barbus carpathicus Kotlík et al.	NT	LC	LC	VU	LC
Barbus cyclolepis Heck.			NE	NE	NE
Carassius auratus gibelio (Bloch)	IN		IN	IN	IN
Carassius carassius (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Chondrostoma nasus (L.)	EN	VU	EN	CE	VU
Cobitis taenia L.	DD	DD	DD	DD	DD
Cottus gobio L.	EN	VU	VU	EN	VU
Cottus poecilopus Heck.	NT	NT	NT	NT	LC
Cyprinus carpio L.	IN	IN	IN	IN	IN
Esox lucius L.	NT	NT	NT	NT	NT
Eudontomyzon mariae Berg		EN			
Gobio albipinnatus Lukasch					DD
Gobio gobio (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Gobio kessleri Dyb.					DD
Gymnocephalus cernuus (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Hucho hucho (L.)					IN
Lampetra planeri (Bloch)	EN	EN	EN	EN	EN
Leucaspius delineatus (Heck.)	DD			DD	DD
Leuciscus cephalus (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Leuciscus idus (L.)	VU	VU	NT	VU	VU
Leuciscus leuciscus (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Lota lota (L.)	VU	VU	VU	NT	VU
Oncorhynchus mykiss Walb.	IN	IN	IN	IN	IN
Perca fluviatilis L.	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Phoxinus phoxinus (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Rhodeus sericeus (Pall.)	EN	EN	EN	EN	EN
Rutilus rutilus (L.)	LC	LC	LC	LC	LC
Sabanejewia aurata (Fil.)					DD
Salmo salar L.	EXP	EXP	EXP	EXP	EXP
Salmo trutta m. fario L.	CD	CD	CD	CD	CD
Salmo trutta m. trutta L.	EXP	EXP	CE	CE	CE
Salmo trutta m. lacustris L.			IN	IN	IN
Scardinius erythrophtalmus (L.)	LC		LC	LC	LC
Silurus glanis L.			VU	CE	VU
Stizostedion lucioperca (L.)			VU	VU	VU
Thymallus thymallus L.	VU	VU	IN	IN	IN
Tinca tinca L.	LC		LC	LC	LC
Vimba vimba (L.)	CE	CE	CE	CE	EN

San above Przemyśl, and the brook lamprey in some small tributaries of the rivers Wisłok and San.

Great predators are also endangered, particularly the wels, pikeperch, and asp *Aspius aspius* (L.). They were never numerous in submontane rivers but decreases in their numbers were visible in the analysed waters.

In five analysed catchment areas only 12 autochthonous species are not threatened (Table XV). Among them the chub, dace, minnow, or gudgeon were above all recorded as constant, locally numerous, elements of the ichthyofauna in this part of the drainage basin. The remaining species of the not endangered group, e.g. the roach, perch, or common bream *Abramis brama* (L.) have recently occurred more abundantly in many mountain and submontane sectors of the Carpathian tributaries of the Vistula.

Of the introduced fish species none are numerous in the discussed catchment areas. Only the grayling transferred to the Wisłoka and San basins occur more frequently, often being found in the San and its affluents. However, it is endangered in the regions of its natural occurrence, e.g. in the River Skawa.

5. Discussion

Life in running waters necessitates suitable adaptations on the part of the organisms occurring there, while important geomorphologic and hydrologic elements change with the river course (Morin and Naiman 1990, Allan 1995). In this continuous system the communities of producers and consumers are in a state of dynamic balance in every sector of the river (Vannote et al. 1980) and the abiotic factors changing with the stream flow determine the amounts of available resources (Zalewski and Naiman 1985, Starmach et al. 1991). Mountain sectors of rivers and streams are a particularly difficult environment and only a few fish species are adapted to life in high mountain streams (Opuszyński 1983, Heese and Przybyszewski 1993, Brylińska 2000). In high mountain brooks the typical steep gradient, and hence the rapid water current, low temperatures, and frequent freezing-up of shallow streams to the bottom, significantly affect the animals living there and are decisive for the growth and development of fish (Beecher et al. 1988, Elliott 1994, Kownacki 1996). The natural variability of environmental agents in running waters to which the living organisms have adapted is often, and to a high degree, disturbed by human activity (Allen and Flecker 1993, Lelek 1996). This frequently concerns even those drainage basins which are regarded as "natural", such as the River San catchment.

In the Carpathian Mts the upper sectors of streams unfavourable for numerous fish species are colonized only by the Siberian sculpin and brown trout (Starmach 1956, Starmach 1972, 1983/1984, Augustyn et al. 1996, Skóra and Włodek 1988, 1989c, 1991, Kukuła 1999, 2003a). It was found that in the upper San catchment the occurrence of the brown trout and Siberian sculpin was most strongly correlated with the high gradient of the riverbed, shading, and altitude above sea level. The conditions that develop with the increasing width and depth of a stream and the lessening gradient, favour the occurrence of other fish species (Kukuła 2003b). This is due to increased water temperatures, particularly in summer, in the middle and lower sectors of mountain streams, to their greater depth and the more varied substrate (Allan 1995). In the River Nysa Kłodzka the abundance of such species as the brown trout or minnow decreased from the upper course down river while that of the chub and gudgeon increased (Błachuta and Witkowski 1990).

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

Owing to the great variability of abiotic factors throughout the year different fragments of mountain streams can be only periodically colonized by some species. Hence in the middle course of the investigated streams species appearing in summer were rarely encountered in cooler seasons of the year (Fig. 9).

In the upper course of streams the Siberian sculpin was the only constantly occurring species, and in this part of the catchment area its highest mean biomass and mean density were noted (Table IV). The seasonal variability of the most important abiotic factors caused a varied composition of ichthyofauna assemblages in the different parts of the watercourses (Fig. 9). In the upper course the community of fish was stable while in the streams of medium size distinct differences were found in the composition of assemblages in different seasons of the year. In summer some species arrived from the San and even from the Solina dam reservoir, retreating down river in early autumn (Kukuła 1997a). This type of migration of river fish permits them to avoid dangers resulting from the instability of important environmental elements (Northcote 1978, Mahon 1984). In upland rivers the seasonal migrations of species are observed in the spawning period and also in connection with changes in oxygen conditions (Zalewski et al. 1990). The migrations allow the fish to escape the pressure of abiotic and biotic factors whose impact changes along the river course (Zalewski and Naiman 1985).

In a given stream fragment the stability of a fish assemblage depends to a great degree on the stability of conditions significant for various species in the association. Here a good index is the coefficient of variation (Grossman et al. 1990). In running waters the main variability factor of fish assemblages is the instability of hydrological factors. According to Grossman et al. (1990) they are decisive in causing the pronounced variability of the assemblages with the passage of years. Hydrological conditions most important for fish can change distinctly even in the period of one year. During the present study, in the area of the upper San, very low water levels accompanied by high temperatures were noted in summer (Kukuła and Szczęsny 2000). Most species showed high coefficients of variation (Table V). The Siberian sculpin seemed to be the most stable species and with the high (zone A) and low (zone E) densities did not manifest any pronounced variation of abundance. In the entire range of occurrence the brown trout showed a high variability coefficient. However, the highest variability was found with species that appeared periodically and not at all stations, e.g. the perch or nase (Table V). The migration of some species along the stream course brought about significant differences between the seasons of the year in the mean density and mean values of biodiversity coefficients in the middle and lower zones of streams (Fig. 10, Table VI). No significant differences were found between the mean values of coefficients calculated for fish assemblages in small streams owing to the distinct dominance of two or three species (Siberian sculpin, brown trout, and minnow) throughout the year at almost all sites (Fig. 9).

It was possible to distinguish cenological associations among the identified fish species (Fig. 10). As in the rivers of England (Penczak et al. 1991*b*), in the River San and upland running waters of central Poland (Zalewski et al. 1990) the composition of assemblages results from environmental changes occurring with the river course, and also from fish migrations connected with their life cycle. In spring Cyprinid species (the chub, dace, and roach) gathering for spawning in a similar zone of streams were found in one assemblage (Fig. 11). In autumn the occurrence of perch in one group with the brown trout was also striking. The appearance of perch in the basin of the upper San is associated with the construction of the Solina reservoir (Kukuła 1997*a*, 2000*a*). The abundance of this species above dam

reservoirs has frequently been (Kolder 1964, Penczak 1989), and could present a threat to the autochthonous ichthyofauna, including the brown trout.

The brown trout, a key species for the water ecosystems of the Bieszczady region (Głowaciński 1994), was encountered throughout the catchment area (Fig. 9). In the upper course of streams (sites of group A) the numbers of brown trout caught were low, small individuals prevailing (Fig. 12, Table VII). The species was most numerous in the middle course of streams and it was there that the individuals of greater body size were most frequently caught. With respect to abiotic factors the highest requirements of the brown trout at spawning time are associated with a suitable composition of the substrate, depth of water corresponding with the size of spawning fish, the temperature and oxygenation of the water, and also its purity. The accessibility of hiding places and the occurrence of natural or artificial obstacles making migration difficult, are also of consequence (Binns and Eiserman 1979, Milner et al. 1993, Elliott 1994, Haury et al. 1995, Crisp 1996, Lamouroux and Capra 2002). These factors have been disturbed to a varied degree in many rivers and streams of the upper Vistula catchment, considerably affecting the abundance of fish, among them the brown trout (Pasternak and Skóra 1982, Augustyn 1999). In Bieszczady the local disturbances of abiotic factors are fairly rare, chiefly concerning changes caused by forest works and municipal wastes below tourist resorts.

The most important anthropogenic factors bringing about rapid changes in freshwater fish communities are hydro constructions, excessive exploitation of some species, introduction of foreign species, and above all the pollution of waters (Penczak 1992, Allan and Flecker 1993, Penczak and Mann 1993, Witkowski 1996a, 1996b). The most drastic effect of anthropogenic agents is the extinction of species. In recent decades the decline or pronounced threat to a great many species of the ichthyofauna have been noted in numerous regions of the world (Warren and Burr 1994, Povž 1996, Holčik 1996, Lusk and Hanel 1996). A similar situation is observed in Poland (Witkowski et al. 1999, Głowaciński 2001). In the course of the present study 21 species were found in the tributaries of the Vistula (Table III). If the species recorded by other authors in the 1990s and the verified polling data are taken into consideration, about 40 species of fish and lampreys live in the Carpathian affluents of the Vistula. From the time of investigations conducted in previous years (Żarnecki and Kołder 1955, 1956, Schramm 1957, Jokiel and Backiel 1960, Kolder 1961, 1964, 1973, Solewski 1960a, 1960b, 1964, 1965, Klimczyk 1965, Bontemps 1971, Rembiszewski 1971, Rolik 1971, Skóra 1972, Bieniarz i Epler 1972, 1991, Klimczyk-Janikowska 1973, Kołder et al. 1974, Włodek 1975, Łysak and Bieniarz 1975, Gertychowa 1976, Wajdowicz 1979, Pasternak and Skóra 1982, Pasternak and Wajdowicz 1983, Skóra and Włodek 1988, Włodek and Skóra 1992) qualitative and quantitative changes occurred in the entire catchment area. The Atlantic sturgeon which in the old days occurred in the San up to Przemyśl, in the Wisłok, Wisłoka, Raba and upper Vistula, was the first to disappear. The last records of its occurrence in the investigated waters come from the 1950s (Bryliński and Kolman 2000, Dyduch-Falniowska 2001). Atlantic salmon had been noted in the rivers San, Wisłok, Wisłoka, Skawa, and upper Vistula (Żarnecki and Kołder 1956, Sych 1996, Bartel 2000a, Bartel et al. 2001). In the River San it reached its Bieszczady sectors (Schramm 1957). In the upper Vistula drainage basin the last individuals of Atlantic salmon probably occurred as late as the early 1950s (Łysak and Bieniarz 1975). It seems that the sea trout still noted in the San, Wisłoka, and Dunajec in the 1950s and 1960s (Jokiel and Backiel 1960, Bartel 1988, Amirowicz 2001) also disappeared. Distinct decreases in the abundance of many species were also observed, and further names entered the list of endangered species (Table XV).

Of the species occurring in the waters of this part of the Vistula drainage basin the spirlin, bitterling, vimba, grayling, nase, and barbel may be quoted (Witkowski et al. 1999, Głowaciński 2001).

In the entire catchment area of the upper Vistula, the condition of aquatic fauna is to the greatest degree affected by pollution. According to the current criteria, the waters of large Carpathian tributaries of the Vistula and of the main part of this river were of purity class I up to World War II (Kamiński and Wróbel 1991). Then, however, the quality of these waters very rapidly deteriorated and in the early 1980s only the upper sectors of the main affluents of the Vistula had waters of this class of purity. The remaining parts were even evaluated as outside any class of purity (Dynowska 1995).

The River Skawa is the affluent of the Vistula where changes in fish associations could above all be caused by pollution. At the same time, this is the last large tributary with no greater hydro construction in its drainage area (Hennig et al. 1991). Since the middle of the 1970s the inflow of wastes has rapidly increased. Now the quality of waters in the Skawa is low – in purity class III, and even worse below the town of Wadowice (Gałaś 1998), hence species that occurred abundantly in the middle and lower course of this river (Skóra and Włodek 1991) in the past, are now disappearing.

The effects of pollution are most evident in the middle and lower courses of the Skawa, where a drastic decrease has occurred in the share of the nase (Tables X and XI). This species constituted even 99% of biomass in the catches of the 1960s (Kołder 1961). A similar regress was noted in the case of the barbel. At the same time the abundance of the chub distinctly increased while the roach from the lower sectors broadened its range up river (Table X). An increase in the share of the chub in the assemblage and the widening of its range also occurred in other Carpathian rivers (Augustyn and Bieniarz 1995, Starmach 1998, Włodek and Skóra 1999), and was usually associated with decreases in the abundance of the nase and barbel. Nevertheless in many drainage basins of lowland rivers the chub is more and more frequently regarded as an endangered species (Przybylski et al. 1993, Penczak 1996a, Kruk et al. 2001). In the ichthyofauna of the Skawa an increase in the participation of stone loach was also noted (Table X). In strongly polluted rivers, this species begins to dominate (Kotusz 1996).

In the 1970s, in the River San below the Solina dam reservoir and in some of its tributaries, decreases in water quality were also recorded (Kamiński and Wróbel 1991), causing significant changes in the ichthyofauna assemblage. The participation of the barbel and nase in abundance and biomass was reduced, this also applying to the spirlin, spotted barbel, and vimba (Fig. 13, Table VIII). A characteristic increase in the share of the gudgeon, another species, besides the stone loach, that frequently increases its occurrence when other species disappear (Witkowski et al. 1992), was also observed.

The deterioration of the quality of surface waters in the entire catchment is effected by numerous sources of pollution. The point pollution associated with industrial production chiefly concerns the western part of the upper Vistula drainage basin (Kamiński and Wróbel 1991). The towns lying along the rivers and characterized by inadequate sewage management and surface runoff contamination from agricultural areas, also significantly contribute to the pollution (Bombówna 1975). Owing to the development of tourism many rivers are polluted almost from their sources (Bombówna 1977).

It also happens that in unfavourable soil conditions, i.e. in the case of a low content of calcium in the soil (Wróbel 1995), airborne pollution can destroy aquatic

ecosystems not burdened with wastes (Szczęsny 1995). In the headwaters of the Vistula, decreased values of pH in the Czarna Wisełka stream brought about the extinction of the ichthyofauna (Table IX). A negative effect of water acidity on the ichthyofauna has been observed in Scandinavian countries (among others by Gjedrem 1981, Hesthagen 1986) and in the Sudeten Mts (Witkowski et al. 1995).

Hydro constructions present a particular threat to the ichthyofauna. Disturbances in the composition of fish assemblages, observed in numerous catchment areas, were caused by technical obstacles in riverbeds (Neves and Angermeier 1990, Lusk 1995*a*, Nicola et al. 1996, Penczak 1989, 1992, 1999, Penczak et al. 1993, 1994, 1998, Penczak and Kruk 1999, 2000, Głowacki and Penczak 2000). In the Carpathian part of the River Vistula basin, distinct changes observed in fish assemblages were to a great measure caused by the construction of several water dams (Skóra and Włodek 1988, Starmach 1998), the greatest of them being the Solina dam reservoir (Hennig et al. 1991). Most frequently, these constructions have no facilities – or of very poor utility – for fish migration (Backiel 1993). The existence of dam reservoirs is accompanied by changes in the ichthyofauna composition both below and above them (Penczak et al. 1984, Backiel 1985, Lusk 1995*a*, Cowx and Gould 1985, Vehanen 1997, Penczak 1999, Cowx 2002) caused by changes in water temperatures, the chemical composition of waters, and the size of water flow (Baxter 1977, Cowx and Gould 1985).

Apart from anadromous migratory fish (the Atlantic salmon, sea trout, and vimba), whose decline in the tributaries of the upper Vistula coincided with the construction of the Włocławek dam (Backiel 1983, Bartel 1988), dam reservoirs also affect other fish species (Backiel 1983). Among other effects the dams are a very important factor in the limitation of abundance of rheophilous Cyprinids (Lusk 1995a, Penczak and Kruk 2000).

In comparing the materials sampled in the San drainage basin above the Solina reservoir (Fig. 9) with those from the 1950s and 1960s (Solewski 1964, Rembiszewski 1971, Rolik 1971, Skóra 1972, Wajdowicz 1979), considerable changes are observed in the ichthyofauna composition (Kukuła 2003b). Above all, in the present investigation no catches contained barbel. Before the river was dammed, barbel occurred abundantly in the zone from the now existing reservoir down river, while in the upper catchment of the San it constituted a few percentages of catches (Rolik 1971). The absence of this species in the collected material is in agreement with the tendency observed in many drainage basins, chiefly due to pollution and constructions on the rivers (Penczak 1996b, Penczak et al. 1998). This could be observed even in those river sectors where the barbel had previously found optimum living conditions (Lusk 1996). In the River Jihlava, below a dam reservoir, the fall in water temperature changed the natural fish assemblage, with the barbel and nase prevailing, into that of brown trout and grayling (Peňáz and Wohlgemuth 1990). In the River San below the Solina-Myczkowce dam, reservoir changes in the thermal conditions considerably shifted down the zone of a greater abundance of the barbel. The population which colonized the area at the upper line of its longitudinal range of occurrence, cut off by the dam, gradually declined. This was caused by weirs and dikes breaking the continuity of the river system while the too short sectors of rivers could not meet all the requirements of fish biology (Lusk 1996). In the upper San catchment the nase, like the barbel, occurred only in a few sectors of the San and Solinka, but now the abundance of this species is now distinctly smaller in the same sites. The reason for decreases in nase is similar to that of the barbel (Lusk 1995b, Peňáz 1996, Povž 1996, Kukuła 2003b).

Supplementa ad Acta Hydrobiologica, 4, 1-63

In other tributaries of the Vistula, distinct decreases were also observed in the numbers of species formerly occurring in rivers above and below dam reservoirs (Kołder 1964, Skóra and Włodek 1988, Starmach 1998). This was, at least in part, caused by the difficulties in, or impossibility, of passing dams. It also sometimes happens in spite of the existing fish pass. The poor construction of fish passes usually hampers their use by the fish (Żarnecki and Kołder 1955, Backiel 1983).

The dam reservoirs affect the ichthyofauna of the catchment not only as a hydro construction preventing fish migration but also by the formation of fish assemblages in the reservoir. Such an assemblage of fish here formed partly of river species that colonized the dammed river, and also of species introduced by man (Holčik 1966, Mastyński 1985, Jelonek and Amirowicz 1987, Skóra and Włodek 1988, 1989c, Penczak 1989, Witkowski and Błachuta 1992, Starmach 1998, Lojkásek et al. 2001). The range of influence of a dam reservoir on fish assemblages in a drainage basin can be wide. In the upper San the effect of the Solina reservoir is observed even in the mountain streams of the Bieszczady National Park (Kukuła 1995).

In the Carpathian Mts in most dam reservoirs, slowly occurring succession has led to the formation of a lake fish assemblage with a great percentage of the common bream and roach (Mastyński 1985, Jelonek and Amirowicz 1987, Epler and Sych 1997, Lysak and Ligaszewski 1998). In the Solina reservoir the introduction of lake trout was initially successful owing to the prevailing conditions (Wajdowicz 1976). As in the Myczkowce reservoir, in the first years of existence of the Solina reservoir a great abundance of perch and chub fry were noted in the ichthyofauna (Wajdowicz 1966, 1979). The parallel stocking included the pikeperch, pike, and the Cyprinids (Mastyński 1985). Currently, the lake trout is only sporadically encountered there (Kukuła 1999). Anglers chiefly catch common bream, roach, and perch (Bieniarz and Epler 1993). The perch and roach, having been unrecorded earlier in the upper San, appeared fairly abundantly in the fish assemblage of some streams (Fig. 18). These species reached as high as 640 m above sea level. Their expansion up stream is probably limited by waterfalls and natural and artificial bars. This is documented by the absence of the roach and perch in the upper and middle course of the River Wetlina (Fig. 17). In spring 1980 a landslide took place on a mountain slope (Luboński and Swianiewicz 1992) and a few kilometres above the River Wetlina mouth another obstacle for fish was formed on the river. Before 1980 numerous roach spawners appeared in this river in spring, and in summer the perch was fairly frequent (Kukuła unpubl.). The occurrence of these two expansive species in the upper San changes in successive years (Kukuła 1997a) and seasons of the year (Fig. 9). In spring, the roach arrive to spawn in the San and in some of its tributaries. They then probably return to the reservoir and only a part of the population still remains in some streams in summer. The perch appears early in summer and in some places remains until autumn. A similar tendency of the perch and roach to migrate from dam reservoirs up river was observed in the Soła (Skóra and Włodek 1988), Dunajec (Starmach 1998), Pilica (Penczak 1989), and in the Starina reservoir in Slovakia (Koščo and Košuth 1995). In a mountain dam reservoir on the River Czarna Orawa (the Danube catchment), the perch periodically constituted over 50% of all fish caught (Holčik 1966) and in the catchment of this river the abundance of this species migrating from the reservoir distinctly increased (Skóra and Włodek 1989c).

The lake trout (Mastyński 1985) and European whitefish (Falkowski 1999) were introduced in a small dam reservoir on the River Wisłok at Besko. Other fish species, including the Cyprinids, were also introduced, chiefly on account of anglers (Mastyński 1985). The perch is common here (Kukuła unpubl.). In the sector of the Wisłok directly affected by the dam reservoir, significant changes in the composition of the ichthyofauna occurred both above and below the dam (Fig. 18, Table XII). In relation to earlier data (Rolik 1971, Pasternak and Wajdowicz 1983) the occurrence of some species decreased with a simultaneous distinct increase in the abundance of the perch. Directly below the reservoir the ichthyofauna assemblage also changed considerably and the share of the chub and minnow increased. The abundance of the barbel and spotted barbel was distinctly smaller and the nase was not recorded. A few kilometres below the reservoir the most striking absence of the barbel and a distinct reduction in the abundance of the nase and spirlin were observed.

The threats appearing below the dams chiefly result from changes in the regime of water flow, in water temperatures, and in the chemical composition (Baxter 1977, Neves and Angermeier 1990, Penczak et al. 1993, 1998, Elvira et al. 1998). The natural cycles of high and low water levels, characteristic of rivers, are equalized, affecting the pattern of life cycles of the entire water fauna (Welcomme et al. 1989, Szczesny 1991). It has sometimes happened that a rapid fall in water level below a dam has devastated the entire ecosystem. Such an event occurred in the reservoir at Myczkowce on December 2, 2002, when a drastic fall in water flow caused massive fish kills in the River San. A similar situation occurred in March 1996 when, after a rapid rise and then fall in the water level, dead fish were observed in a long sector of this river (Kukuła unpubl.). Even small damming bars can bring about significant changes in the environment by affecting the size of flow or impeding fish migration (Lusk et al. 1995, Buras and Gasiński 1998, Lojkásek et al. 2001). Such was the case of a bar on the River San above the town of Przemyśl (Kukuła unpubl.) or some tributaries of the rivers Dunajec and Poprad (Pasternak and Skóra 1982, Augustyn 1999).

The degradation of water ecosystems can also be caused by other factors – not associated with wastes or hydro constructions. Massive afforestation of the catchment area was positively correlated with the occurrence of the brown trout (Maret 1999). However, an important issue is to associate the management of forests with the protection of flowing waters. In the Carpathian part of the Vistula basin the timberland ranges from 18% in the Upland to about 70% in the Bieszczady and Tatra Mts (Fabijanowski and Jaworski 1995), hence the forest economy plays an important role in the economy of this region of Poland. In the difficult local conditions of the mountains, cut timber was also transported through midforest streams. In Bieszczady the beds of numerous streams were devastated by the removal of rock bars and boulders with heavy equipment and explosives. The inundated trees, so important for the functioning of ecosystems, were also removed (Wallace et al. 1995). The rock debris and organic matter covering stream beds were reduced to a pronounced degree. Currently in numerous sectors the streambeds are composed of solid rock. The transport through streambeds caused a mass devastation of the ichthyofauna and invertebrate animals by damaging the natural hiding places of fish and the habitats of invertebrates that are the food of fish (Kukuła and Szczęsny 2000). Changes in the state of these streams caused decreases in the abundance of fish and reduced the fish condition coefficient (Fig. 20, Table XIV). Intensive silviculture is frequently associated with increased erosion, and changes in stream bed gradient, or with the chemical composition of the waters (Harr and Nichols 1993, Rees and Ribbens 1995). The erosion and resulting water turbidity and siltation of streams increase fish mortality, particularly at the youngest developmental stages (Berkman and Rabeni 1987).

Like badly conducted silviculture, the frequent exploitation of gravel out of mountain riverbeds causes unfavourable changes in rivers (Punzet 1994, Punzet and Czulak 1993). The degradation of streambeds connected with the mining of crushed stone aggregate or the regulation of the watercourse, bring about quantitative and qualitative changes in the communities of aquatic invertebrates. A decrease in the amount of food available for fish, damage to eggs and fry, and the degradation of hiding places indispensable for fish survival follow (Bieniarz and Epler 1991, Szczęsny 1991, Penczak et al. 1992). It was determined that the abundance of the brown trout depended to a high degree on the number of accessible hidings (Crisp 1996), e.g. in some investigated Danish streams, bed dredging led to distinct decreases in the abundance and productivity of this species (Nielsen 1986).

For many fish species a very important factor is the exploitation of the population by man (Penczak et al. 1991 α , 1999, Allan and Flecker 1993). In some cases this is an agent affecting the abundance of species in a given river to a greater degree than the inflow of pollution or the river regulation (Penczak 1996b). In the entire catchment, widespread poaching (Skóra and Włodek 1991, Kukuła 2001) and a great pressure from angling are noted. As in all waters, the interest of anglers is directed to some species only. Owing to the character of waters these are the brown trout and grayling (Leopold et al. 1989). In many mountain brooks the so-called sport angling of salmonids is so intensive that some control and limitation to catches becomes necessary (Almodóvar and Nicola 1998). In the catchment of the upper Vistula great interest is traditionally paid, by anglers, to catches of rheophilous Cyprinids and also to large predatory fish (Leopold et al. 1989). Increasingly advanced angling techniques permit the catches of great numbers of fish. Włodek (1978) claims that people removed 75% of fish biomass from the Skawica stream, 25% of this value being poachers' catches.

Among other factors, angling, and above all widespread poaching, contributed to the disturbance of age structure in the brown trout populations (Włodek 1975, Skóra and Włodek 1988, 1989b, 1991, Augustyn et al. 1998). In the upper San this is the cause of the poor abundance of older generations of brown trout (Fig. 12, Table VII). The activity of poachers probably led to the breakdown of the lake trout population in the Solina reservoir (Bartel et al. 1996, Kukuła 2001). In the middle and lower San and in the Wisłoka a disproportionately small abundance of large predators (pike, wels, or pikeperch) was found in the ichthyofauna assemblages (Włodek and Skóra 1999, Kukuła 2001). The main reason for this situation – as in numerous other rivers – may be poaching (Penczak and Mann 1993, Penczak and Koszalińska 1993, Penczak et al. 1996, Błachuta and Witkowski 1997, Penczak and Kruk 1999).

The effects of poaching were evident when the ichthyofauna from sites under the pressure of poaching was compared with that found in watercourses similar as to habitat conditions, though under much more efficient protection (Kukuła 1996, 2003a). Of the streams of Babia Góra National Park the greatest density of the brown trout was found in a site located in the depth of the Park (Table XII). In the upper San basin significantly higher average body weights and total length of the brown trout were found in sites where no traces of poaching were visible (Fig. 14). In the upper Wisłoka, fishing with the use of chemicals caused a pronounced decrease in the numbers of fish and significant differences between assemblages at the sites compared (Fig. 16). Hence, the abundance of the minnow commonly occurring in the entire drainage basin was very low here.

The composition of fish communities to a great degree depends on the local traits of the environment (Schlosser 1991, Maret 1999). This dependence being

taken into consideration, zones characterized by a specific ichthyofauna composition were distinguished (Starmach 1956). Two zones were separated in the Carpathian tributaries of the River Vistula: that of the brown trout and that of the barbel. However, the application of this division was greatly impeded by rapidly occurring anthropogenic changes (Penczak 1972). The changes in physical and chemical attributes of the ecosystem induced by human activity usually change the distribution and structure of fish assemblages (Allan and Flecker 1993).

This is evident in the Carpathian affluents of the Vistula, which, as far as ichthyology is concerned, are among the better-investigated regions of Poland. In some flowing waters investigations were repeated, sometimes in the same river sectors (Blachuta and Witkowski 1997). A general tendency towards the extinction of numerous species, observed in the investigation of 125 river sectors (Fig. 21), is in agreement with observations recorded in various catchment areas (Neves and Angermeier 1990, Przybylski 1993, Peňáz and Jurajda 1993, Nicola et al. 1996, Eklöv et al. 1998). In the Carpathian tributaries of the Vistula, eurytopic species, i.e. the perch and roach, widen their distribution range, other species being in distinct regress. With a lesser pressure from competitors, the former species increase their abundance also in other catchment areas (Penczak and Koszalińska 1993, Penczak et al. 1995). Their increasing share is very distinct in rivers under a strong anthropopressure (Persson 1994, Wolter and Vilcinskas 1997, 1998).

The extinction of migratory fish occurred first. In the Carpathian tributaries of the Vistula the last sea trout individuals were caught for obtaining eggs in 1968 (Łysak and Bieniarz 1975). The migratory form of the vimba, formerly abundant in the rivers Dunajec and San, ceased flowing in for the spawning period to the Carpathian rivers and now occurs only locally as a residential form of this species (Bontemps 1960, 1971, Sych 1996). In the case of these species the construction of dams was decisive (Backiel and Penczak 1989).

In the first half of the 20th century, before a dramatic increase in the quantities of industrial wastes, great numbers of the barbel and nase were caught by anglers in the upper Vistula in the region of Cracow (Backiel 1983). A similar situation was noted in the main tributaries of the Vistula where these species still prevailed in the 1960s (Kołder 1961, Klimczyk-Janikowska 1973, Kołder et al. 1974). The nase and barbel are now threatened species and fast disappearing from numerous rivers (Lusk 1995b, 1996, Danilkiewicz 1994, 1996, Penczak 1996a, Marszał and Przybylski 1996). Currently, in the "barbel zone" of the Carpathians Mts the leading species is distinctly less abundant and the nase do not form such numerous shoals as before, while the chub begin to dominate (Włodek and Skóra 1999). A dramatic decrease in the abundance of the spirlin also seems symptomatic. This species, found in most flowing waters of the catchment until recently, is now on the list of critically endangered fish (Witkowski et al. 1999, Heese 2001b, Kukuła 2001).

The most serious threat to the ichthyofauna is the pollution of waters. This can effect changes in the composition of entire fish assemblages (Przybylski 1993). It is true that currently the quantities of wastes discharged from towns and industrial plants are decreasing, but the quantities of sewage produced by rural areas are increasing (Suchy 2001). Their joint effect, the run-off from fields and the regulation of riverbeds, intensify a rapid degradation of smaller streams. The usual result is a decline of fish and lampreys in these watercourses (Penczak et al. 1991a, 1992, Witkowski 1995).

In popular opinion the drainage basin of the upper San, depopulated after World War II, is a region in a state of "wild" nature (Luboński and Swianiewicz 1992). However, in spite of the fairly natural condition of water ecosystems in the Bieszczady area, particularly distinct with respect to invertebrates (Kukuła and Szczęsny 2000), the composition of the ichthyofauna has changed distinctly, the turning point being the barring of the River San with the Solina dam (Kukuła 2003b). The results of other harmful activities are also locally manifested – such as poaching, and the devastation of natural streambeds.

As stressed in the studies conducted in rivers of the Danube catchment, hydro constructions sometimes cause even a twenty-time decreases in the abundance of certain species, including the nase, barbel, or chub (Lusk 1995*a*). Changes in water discharges – differing from the natural ones and frequently of catastrophic character – below retention reservoirs – negatively affect the youngest fish as well as adult individuals (Penczak et al. 1998, Cattaneo et al. 2002, Kukuła unpubl.).

The unfavourable changes in natural fish assemblages are frequently the introduction by man of alien species. They present a serious danger to autochthonous populations, sometimes inducing catastrophic transformations (Almaça 1983, Ross 1991, Kaufman 1992, Swales 1994, Elvira 1995, Levêque 1996, Cowx 2002). In the flowing waters of the Carpathian part of the Vistula catchment, the number of species alien to the fauna of Poland is low. In some Tatra lakes the occurrence of the brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis (Mitchill) was recorded (Amirowicz 2001) while the rainbow trout Onchorhynchus mykiss Walbaum is sometimes encountered (Kukuła 1999). However, the introduction of three species – the grayling, huchen, and lake trout Salmo trutta m. lacustris L. - into new catchment areas was more significant. The reason for the translocation was that these species were threatened or extinct in their natural sites of occurrence (Witkowski et al. 1999). The grayling was introduced to the Wisłoka and San basin (Witkowski et al. 1984). This species, characteristic of numerous upper and middle sectors of formerly pure Carpathian rivers which are now strongly polluted in some places, is declining in its natural sites (Skóra and Włodek 1988, 1991, Skóra et al. 1994). Currently, it forms stable populations in the San catchment (Kukuła 2001). The huchen, which disappeared in Poland in the area of its natural occurrence, was saved as a species (Witkowski 1996c, Witkowski et al. 2001). It is now found in the Dunajec, Poprad, and San. The third translocated species is the lake trout, which currently occurs in three dam reservoirs (Solina, Besko, and Klimkówka), although in the first two of them as vestigial populations (Bartel et al. 1996).

The populations which usually occur in the lower river course, which – after it was dammed – frequently form large populations in the new dam reservoir and migrate up river, present a serious problem. They were often found to occur abundantly above dam reservoirs (Penczak et al. 1984, Elvira et al. 1998, Kukuła 2003b). This is frequently observed above the reservoirs on the Dunajec (Starmach 1998, Augustyn and Bieniarz 1995), San and Wisłok. It has happend that the reproductive success of a species in the impoundment has led to its numerous appearance below the reservoir (Penczak 1994).

Changes in the composition of a fish assemblage can also be caused by excessive exploitation (Allan and Flecker 1993). With respect to the barbel, nase, or large predators this is due to angling (Leopold and Bnińska 1987, Backiel and Penczak 1989) and poaching (Witkowski 1984*a*, 1984*b*, Penczak and Koszalińska 1993).

Of the agents significantly affecting the natural character of fish assemblages, the intensification of agriculture in the catchment area and the devastation of the ecotone zone may be quoted (Hughes and Noss 1992, Schlosser 1995, Lammert and Allan 1999). The number of endangered species was smaller when the riverbed and banks were more natural, the differentiation of depth greater, and the ecotone zone well developed (Kirchhofer 1995). The regulation of watercourses usually results in a considerable impoverishment of the ichthyofauna (Crisp et al. 1983, Witkowski et al. 1991). Unfortunately, in the Vistula catchment a great many of sectors of large tributaries and small streams were greatly changed by the regulation of riverbeds, construction of bars, stone and gravel exploitation etc. (Pasternak and Skóra 1982, Hennig 1991a, 1991b, Punzet 1994, Punzet and Czulak 1993).

In recapitulating it may be postulated that the ichthyofauna of the Carpathian tributaries of the Vistula basically and unfavourably changed in the second half of the last century. It is impossible to reconstruct the natural systems of the riverine environment still encountered several decades ago (Backiel 1993, Lelek 1996). The structural changes that have taken place in riverbeds are too serious and current economic and social circumstances do not permit the recovery. However, there is a chance of improving the situation at least partially. The first step in this direction could be the improvement of the water quality. However, this is not enough. The process of ecosystem reconstruction will be long, even though it is not certain that the final effect will be fish assemblages similar to the natural ones. In spite of the reduced amounts of pollution, the barbel or nase population have not reappeard in the Wisłok below Rzeszów (Kukuła 2001). A similar situation was noted in the Bzura (Penczak et al. 2000) where, in spite of a distinct improvement in water quality, some formerly occurring species did not return. Investigations conducted in Sweden suggest that the improved quality of water can contribute to positive changes in the ichthyofauna (Eklöv et al. 1998). However, the examples of pure waters of the upper San, Wisłok, and Wisłoka catchment areas show that this is an insufficient element and the effects of different anthropogenic factors, above all of large hydro constructions, could make any improvement impossible. The data discussed in the present work, and also those reported by other authors, suggest that the extinction of the vimba, nase or barbel was to the greatest degree caused by the construction of bars on the rivers (Bontemps 1971, Kirchhofer 1996, Penczak et al. 1998) and the devastation of spawning grounds (Keckeis et al. 1996). In the River Kwisa positive changes in the ichthyofauna, following a distinct improvement in water quality, were noted in the 1990s; however the hydro construction on the River Bóbr is a hindrance to the reappearance of large rheophilous Cyprinids, including the barbel (Witkowski et al. 2000a). Even small damming bars can present an obstacle to the return of fish to their previous sites (Pasternak and Skóra 1982, Szczęsny and Kukuła 1998) and disturb the regular pattern of life cycles and the associated migration of different age groups (Backiel 1985, Zalewski et al. 1990, Axford 1991, Lusk et al. 1995, Penczak et al. 1998). It seems that in Carpathian rivers the key to improvement of the state of the ichthyofauna is the building of fish ladders which would permit the migratory species to pass through artificial bars and dams. The necessity for any further construction of dam reservoirs should be carefully analysed, and in the case of larger objects their development should be relinquished (Kukuła 2001).

Acknowledgements

The writing of this monograph was possible thanks to the kindness and support of a number of people whom I would like to thank for their help.

In particular, Prof. dr hab. Andrzej Witkowski, Dean of the Faculty of Natural Sciences, Wrocław University, for his thoughtful comments on the work in progress. Discussions with Prof. Witkowski contributed to the increasing of my knowledge and helped shape the material.

I am grateful to the reviewers – Prof. dr hab. Janusz Starmach from the Karol Starmach Institute of Freshwater Biology Polish Academy of Sciences, Kraków, and Prof. dr hab. Jerzy Mastyński from August Cieszkowski Agricultural University, Poznań for their kindness and valuable comments which allowed me to introduce some corrections.

I wish to thank Prof. dr hab. Zbigniew Głowaciński from the Institute of Nature Conservation Polish Academy of Sciences, Kraków and Prof. dr hab. Andrzej Górecki from the Faculty of Biology and Earth Sciences, Jagiellonian University for his commitment, support, and stimulating me to work, that was especially important in the initial stage of my research.

A big thank you to my colleagues Drs Antoni Amirowicz from the Karol Starmach Institute of Freshwater Biology Polish Academy of Sciences, Józef Mitka from the Jagiellonian University and Mirosław Przybylski from the Łódź University for their help in reaching some lacking source material and for a constant opportunity to discuss any emerging problems.

The comparative research into ichthyofauna of a few rivers was possible thanks to the sources made available by M. Sc. Stanisław Prokuski, The Polish Angling Union in Rzeszów. I wish to thank him for this.

Much of the presented materials could be collected thanks to the help of a number of people and institutions. In particular, I would like to thank Dr Tomasz Winnicki from the Bieszczady National Park, Doc. dr hab. Bronisław Szczęsny Institute of Nature Conservation Polish Academy of Sciences, Kraków and the directors of the Magura National Park and Babia Góra National Park. The fish catches would not have been possible without the favour of the Polish Angling Union in Krosno and Bielsko-Biała.

Similarly, I would like to thank those who offered me their help in the field studies, in particular M. Sc. Andrzej Sokołowicz from Rzeszów.

And finally, the greatest thanks to my wife, Ewa, for her understanding, support, and buoying me up in moments of pessimism.

References

- Allan J. D. 1995. Stream ecology. Structure and function of running waters. London, Chapman and Hall, 451 pp.
- Allan J. D. and Flecker S. A. 1993. Biodiversity conservation in running waters. Identifying the major factors that threaten destruction of riverine species and ecosystems. Bioscience, 43, 32–43.
- Almaça C. 1983. Contemporary changes in Portuguese freshwater fish fauna and conservation of autochthonous Cyprinidae. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych, H, 100, 9-15.
- Almodóvar A. and Nicola G. G. 1998. Assessment of brown trout Salmo trutta population in the River Gallo (central Spain), angling effects and management implications (Salmonidae). Ital. J. Zool., 65 (Suppl.), 539–543.
- Amirowicz A. 2001. Threatened species of fish and lampreys in southeastern Poland. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 14, 249–296 [in Polish with English summary].
- Augustyn L. 1999. Effectiveness of autumn stocking brown trout fry (0+) (Salmo trutta m. fario L.) into streams of the Poprad River system. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 12, 61–80 [in Polish with English summary].
- Augustyn L. and Bieniarz K. 1995. Ichthyofauna of the River Dunajec in the Czorsztyn Niedzica Dam Reservoir. Komunikaty Rybackie, 6, 25–27 [in Polish].
- Augustyn L., Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1996. Ichthyofauna of the River Poprad drainage area. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 9, 5–22 [in Polish with English summary].
- Augustyn L., Bieniarz K., Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1998. Ichthyofauna of the River Ropa catchment area. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 11, 29–50 [in Polish with English summary].
- Axford S. N. 1991. Some factors affecting catches in Yorkshire rivers. In: Cowx I. G. (ed.) Rehabilitation of freshwater fisheries. Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications, 143–153.
- Backiel T. 1983. Fisheries and fishes of the Vistula River. In: Kajak Z. (ed.) Ecological basis of environment management in the Vistula basin. Warszawa – Łódź, PWN, 511–542 [in Polish with English summary].
- Backiel T. 1985. Fall of migratory fish populations and change in commercial fisheries in impounded rivers in Poland. In: Alabaster J.S. (ed.). Habitat modification and freshwater fisheries. London, Boston, Butterwarths, 28-41.
- Backiel T. 1993. Ichthyofauna of large rivers: trends and possibilities of protection. In: Tomiałojć L. (ed.) Nature and environment conservation in the lowland river valleys of Poland. Wyd. Instytutu Ochrony Przyrody PAN, Kraków, 39–48 [in Polish with English summary].

http://rcin.org.pl

- Backiel T. and Penczak T. 1989. The fish and fisheries in the Vistula River and its tributary, the Pilica River. In: Dodge D. P. (ed.) Proc. International Large River Symp., Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 106, 488–503.
- Bartel R. 1988. Trouts in Poland. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 35, 321-339.
- Bartel R. 2000a. Atlantic salmon Salmo salar. In: Brylińska M. (ed.) Freshwater fishes of Poland. Warszawa, PWN, 408–415 [in Polish].
- Bartel R. 2000b. Sea trout Salmo trutta trutta m. trutta. In: Brylińska M. (ed.) Freshwater fishes of Poland. Warszawa, PWN, 415-427 [in Polish].
- Bartel R., Bieniarz K., Sych R. and Augustyn L. 1996. Preliminary results of introduction of the lake trout (Salmo trutta m. lacustris L.) and brown trout (Salmo trutta m. fario L.) in the Klimkówka reservoir on the Ropa River. Zoologia Poloniae, 41 (Suppl.), 105–112 [in Polish with English summary].
- Bartel R., Chełkowski Z. and Chełkowska B. 2001. Atlantic salmon Salmo salar (Linné, 1758). In: Głowaciński Z. (ed.) Polish red data book of animals. Vertebrates. Warszawa, PWRiL, 293–295 [in Polish with English summary].
- Baxter R. M. 1977. Environmental effects of dams and impoundments. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst., 8, 255–283.
- Beecher H. A., Dott E. R. and Fernau R. F. 1988. Fish species richness and stream order in Washington State streams. Environ. Biol. Fish., 22, 193–209.
- Berkman H. E. and Rabeni C. F. 1987. Effect of siltation on stream fish communities Environ. Biol. Fish., 18, 285–294.
- Bieniarz K. and Epler P. 1972. Ichthyofauna of certain rivers in Southern Poland. Acta Hydrobiol., 14, 419-444 [in Polish with English summary].
- Bieniarz K. and Epler P. 1991. Ichthyofauna. In: Dynowska I. and Maciejewski M. (eds) Upper Wisła River drainage basin. Part II. Warszawa, Kraków, PWN, 69–81.
- Bieniarz K. and Epler P. 1993. Fish catching by anglers in the Solina Dam Reservoir. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 6, 5–18 [in Polish with English summary].
- Binns N. A. and Eiserman F. M. 1979. Quantification of fluvial trout habitat in Wyoming. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc., 108, 215–228.
- Błachuta J. and Witkowski A. 1990. The longitudinal changes of fish community, in the Nysa Kłodzka River (Sudety Mountains) in relation to stream order. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 37, 235-242.
- Błachuta J. and Witkowski A. 1997. Problems of angling policy in rivers. Rocz. Nauk. PZW (Suppl.), 11–28 [in Polish].
- Bombówna M. 1975. Nutrient content in the Carpathian rivers and the management of a catchment basin. Zeszyty Problemowe Postępów Nauk Rolniczych, 162, 265–280 [in Polish with English summary].
- Bombówna M. 1977. Biocenosis of high mountain stream under the influence of tourism. 1. Chemism of the Rybi Potok waters and the chlorophyll content in attached algae and seston in relation to the pollution. Acta Hydrobiol., 19, 243-255.
- Bontemps S. 1960. An estimation of *Vimba vimba* L. stocks in the Vistula River system. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych, 75, 179–211 [in Polish with English summary].
- Bontemps S. 1971. Vimba. Warszawa, PWRiL, 216 pp. [in Polish].
- Brylińska M. (ed.) 2000. Freshwater fishes of Poland. Warszawa, PWN, 521 pp. [in Polish].
- Bryliński E. and Kolman R. 2000. Sturgeon Acipenser sturio. In: Brylińska M. (ed.) Freshwater fishes of Poland. Warszawa, PWN, 159–162 [in Polish].
- Buras P. and Gasiński Z. 1998. Attempt of applying the selected biocenotic indexes for evaluation of the low weir impact on migration of small species of fish and lampreys. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 11, 91–96 [in Polish with English summary].
- Cattanéo F., Lamouroux N., Breil P. and Capra H. 2002. The influence of hydrological and biotic processes on brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) population dynamics. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 59, 12–22.
- Chełmicki W. 2001. Water. Resources, degradation, protection. Warszawa, PWN, 306 pp. [in Polish].
- Crisp D. T. 1996. Environmental requirements of common riverine European salmonid fish species in fresh water with particular reference to physical and chemical aspects. Hydrobiologia, 323, 201-221.

http://rcin.org.pl

- Crisp D. T., Mann R. H. K. and Cubby P. R. 1983. Effects of regulation of the River Tees upon fish populations below Cow Green Reservoir. J. appl. Ecol., 20, 371–386.
- Cowx I. G. and Gould R. A. 1985. The effects of short-term regulation releases from an impoundment on downstream fish fauna. Aquacult. Fish. Manage., 1, 257-264.
- Cowx I. G. 2002. Analysis of threats to freshwater fish conservation, past and present challenges. In: Collares-Pereira M. J., Coelho M. M. and Cowx, I. G. (eds) Conservation of Freshwater Fishes. Option for Future. Fishing new Books, Blackwell Science, 201–220.
- Cowx I. G. and Gould R. A. 1985. The effects of short-term regulation releases from an impoundment on downstream fish fauna. Aquac. Fish. Manage., 1, 257–264.
- Danilkiewicz Z. 1994. Fishes (Pisces) of rivers in Roztocze. Fragm. faun., 37, 368–388 [in Polish with English summary].
- Danilkiewicz Z. 1996. Endangered fish species in rivers of central-eastern Poland. Komunikaty Rybackie, 3, 19–21 [in Polish].
- Danilkiewicz Z. 2001. Threatened fish species in the rivers of mideastern Poland Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 14 (Suppl.), 157–172 [in Polish with English summary].
- Dyduch-Falniowska A. 2001. Sturgeon Acipenser sturio (Linné, 1758). In: Głowaciński Z. (ed.) Polish red data book of animals. Vertebrates. Warszawa, PWRiL, 288–291.
- Dynowska I. 1995. Waters. In: Warszyńska J. (ed.) The Polish Carpathians nature, man and his activities. Kraków, Wyd. Uniwersytetu Jagiellońskiego, 49–68 [in Polish with English summary].
- Eklöv A. G., Greenberg L. A., Brönmark C., Larsson P. and Berglund O. 1998. Response of stream fish to improved water quality, a comparison between the 1960s and 1990s. Freshw. Biol., 40, 771–782.
- Elliott J. M. 1994. Quantitative ecology and the brow trout. Oxford, New York, Tokyo, Oxford University Press, 286 pp.
- Elvira B. 1995. Native and exotic freshwater fishes in Spanish river basins. Freshwat. Biol. 33, 103–108.
- Elvira B., Almóvar A. and Nicola G. G. 1998. Fish communities of the middle-upper Tagus River (central Spain), a story of river regulation and exotic introductions. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 45, 165–171.
- Epler P. and Sych R. 1997. Problems of fishery-angling management in dam reservoirs. Mat. Konf. "Angling in the protection of waters and fish stocks". Łódź, 26–27.05.1997, Wyd. PZW, 45–52 [in Polish].
- Fabijanowski J. and Jaworski A. 1995. Silviculture. In: Warszyńska J. (ed.). The Polish Carpathians – nature, man and his activities. Kraków, Wyd. Uniwersytetu Jagiellońskiego, 253–263 [in Polish with English summary].
- Falkowski S. 1999. Growth of whitefish (*Coregonus lavaretus* L.) introduced in Sieniawa Dam Reservoir. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 12, 19–27 [in Polish with English summary].
- Freeman M. C., Crawford M. K., Barrett J. C., Facey D. E., Flood M. G., Hill J., Stouder D. J. and Grossman G. D. 1988. Fish assemblage stability in a Southern Appalachian stream. Can. J. Fish. Aq. Sci., 45, 1949–1958.
- Gałaś A. 1998. Prognosis of effects of the Świnna Poręba reservoir on the environment. In: Paulo A. (ed.) Sozology in the area of anthropopressure on the example of the Świnna Poręba reservoir. Kraków, AGH, 103–115 [in Polish].
- Gauch H. G. 1982. Multivariate analysis in community ecology. Cambridge studies in ecology. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 298 pp.
- Gertychowa R. 1976. The growth-rate of the grayling *Thymallus thymallus* L. 1758 in the tributaries of the river Dunajec as an indicator of habitat conditions. Ochrona Przyrody, 41, 249–280 [in Polish with English summary].
- Gjedrem T. 1981. Conservation of fish populations in Norway. Ecol. Bull., 34, 33-36.
- Głowaciński Z. 1994. Species inventory and categories of threat of the vertebrates of Polish part of the International Biosphere Reserve "East Carpathians". Roczniki Bieszczadzkie, 3, 43–55 [in Polish with English summary].
- Głowaciński Z. 1997. New IUNCN/WCU categories of threatened and disappearing species. Chrońmy Przyr. Ojcz., 53, 60–66. [in Polish with English summary]
- Głowaciński Z. (ed.) 2001. Polish red data book of animals. Vertebrates. Warszawa, PWRiL, 453 pp. [in Polish with English summary].

- Głowacki Ł. and Penczak T. 2000. Impoundment impact on fish in the Warta River, species richness and sample size in the rarefaction method. J. Fish Biol., 57, 99-108.
- Grabarczyk S. and Niewiadomski W. 1983. Management of the Vistula drainage basin and the needs of agriculture and environment protection. In: Kajak Z. (ed.) Ecological basis of environment management in the Vistula basin. Warszawa – Łódź, PWN, 7–28 [in Polish with English summary].
- Grossman G. D., Down J. F. and Crawford M. 1990. Assemblage stability in stream fishes, a review. Environ. Manage., 14, 661–671.
- Harr D. R. and Nichols R. A. 1993. Stabilizing forest roads to help restore fish habitats, a northwest Washington example. Fisheries, 18, 18–22.
- Haury J., Bagliničre J. L., Cassou A. I. and Maisse G. 1995. Analysis of spatial and temporal organization in a salmonid brook in relation to physical factors and macrophytic vegetation. Hydrobiologia, 300/301, 269–277.
- Hennig I. 1991a. River regulation. In: Dynowska I. and Maciejewski M. (eds) Upper Wisła River drainage basin. Part II. Warszawa, Kraków, PWN, 154–157 [in Polish].
- Hennig I. 1991b. Casing of streams and mountain rivers. In: Dynowska I. and Maciejewski M. (eds) Upper Wisła River drainage basin. Part II. Warszawa, Kraków, PWN, 158–161 [in Polish].
- Hennig J., Hennig I. and Roszkowski A. 1991. Dam reservoirs. In: Dynowska I. and Maciejewski M. (eds) Upper Wisła River drainage basin. Part II. Warszawa, Kraków, PWN, 121– 143 [in Polish].
- Heese T. 2001a. Premises to the regional conservation of fish species. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 14 (Suppl.), 15-37 [in Polish with English summary].
- Heese T. 2001b. Spirling Alburnoides bipunctatus (Bloch, 1782). In: Głowaciński Z. (ed.) Polish red data book of animals. Vertebrates. Warszawa, PWRiL, 307–309 [in Polish with English summary].
- Heese T. and Przybyszewski C. 1993. Fish life. Koszalin, Wyd. WSI, 351 pp. [in Polish].
- Hesthagen T. 1986. Fish kills of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and brown trout (Salmo trutta) in an acidified river of SW Norway. Water, Air, Soil Pollut., 30, 619–628.
- Holčik J. 1966. The development and forming of the fishfauna in the Orava water valley reservoir. Biologicke Práce, 12, 5-75 [in Slovak with English summary].
- Holčik J. 1996. Vanishing freshwater fish species of Slovakia. In: Kirchhofer A. and Hefti D. (ed.) Conservation of endangered freshwater fish in Europe. Bern, 79–88.
- Hughes R. M. and Noss R. F. 1992. Biological diversity and biological integrity, current concerns for lakes and streams. Fisheries, 17, 11-19.
- Jelonek M. and Amirowicz A. 1987. Density and biomass of fish in the Rożnów Reservoir (Southern Poland). Acta Hydrobiol., 29, 243–251.
- Jokiel J. and Backiel T. 1960. Catches of sea-trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) in the Danzig Bay and in the Vistula River system. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych, B-75, 213–222 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kamiński B and Wróbel S. 1991. Pollution of rivers. In: Dynowska I. and Maciejewski M. (eds), Upper Wisła River drainage basin. Part II. Warszawa, Kraków, PWN, 27–42 [in Polish].
- Kaufman L. 1992. Catastrophic change in species rich freshwater ecosystems. Bioscience, 42, 846–858.
- Keckeis H., Frankiewicz P. and Schiemer F. 1996. The importance of inshore areas for spawning nase *Chondrostoma nasus* (Cyprinidae) in a free-flowing section of a large river (Danube, Austria). Arch. Hydrobiol., 113 (Suppl.), 51–64.
- Kirchhofer A. 1995. Morphological variability in the ecotone an important factor for the conservation of fish species richness in Swiss rivers. Hydrobiologia, 303, 103–110.
- Kirchhofer A. 1996. Fish conservation in Switzerland three case studies. In: Kirchhofer A. and Hefti D. (eds) Conservation of endangered freshwater fishes in Europe. Basel, Birkhäuser Verlag, 135–145.
- Klimczyk M. 1965. Chub (*Leuciscus cephalus* L.) from upper Vistula, Soła and San rivers. Acta Hydrobiol., 7, 225–268 [in Polish with German summary].
- Klimczyk-Janikowska M. 1973. Cyprinid (Chondrostoma nasus L.) from the River Raba. Acta Hydrobiol., 15, 197–213.
- Kołder W. 1961. Current state of fisheries in the upper Vistula catchment. Gosp. Ryb., 5, 11–12 [in Polish].

- Kołder W. 1964. Der Fischbestand der oberen Wisła und seine Veränderungen nach der Erbauung des Staubeckens Goczałkowice. Acta Hydrobiol., 6, 327–350.
- Kołder W. 1973. Fish and fishery management in the River San basin. Mat. Konf. "Natural environment of the River San catchment, its economic importance and protection". Przemyśl, 16-17.10.1970, Przemyśl, Towarzystwo Przyjaciół Nauk w Przemyślu, 93-123 [in Polish].
- Kołder W., Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1974. Ichthyofauna of the River Raba and its tributaries. Acta Hydrobiol., 16, 65–99.
- Kondracki J. 1978. The Carpathians. Warszawa, WSiP, 410 pp. [in Polish].
- Koščo J. and Košuth P. 1995. Ichthyofauna of river basin of Starina water reservoir. Roczniki Bieszczadzkie, 4, 143–154 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kotusz J. 1996. Species protection of loaches (*Cobitoidea, Cypriniformes*) in Poland in relation ti their distribution and status in other European countries. Zoologica Poloniae, 41 (Suppl.), 147–155 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kownacki A. 1996. Life in the Tatra waters present state and threat. Przyroda Tatrzańskiego Parku Narodowego a Człowiek. Tom 2. Biologia. Kraków – Zakopane, 33–45 [in Polish with English summary].
- Krebs Ch. J. 1994. Ecology. The experimental analysis of distribution and abundance. Harper-Collins Publishers, (Polish ed.) 734 pp.
- Kruk A., Penczak T. and Przybylski M. 2001. Long term changes in the fish fauna of the upper Warta River. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 14 (Suppl.), 187–211 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 1995. Ichthyofauna of the Bieszczady National Park and problems of its protection. Roczniki Bieszczadzkie, 4, 123–142 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 1996. Influence of poaching on brown trout population, *Salmo trutta* morpha *fario* L., in the Bieszczady Mountains streams. Zoologica Poloniae, 41, 159–164 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 1997a. Migration of perch, *Perca fluviatilis* (L.), in the upper San catchment. Mat. Zjazdowe XVII Zjazd Hydrobiologów Polskich, Poznań, 160 [in Polish].
- Kukuła K. 1997b. The conservation and monitoring of waters and their fauna of the Polish part of the International Biosphere Reserve "Eastern Carpathians". Roczniki Bieszczadzkie, 6, 299–312 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 1999. Ichthyofauna of the upper San drainage basin. Archiv. Pol. Fish., 7, 307-319.
- Kukuła K. 2000a. Fish fauna of streams and rivers in the Bieszczady Mountains. In: Głowaciński Z. (ed.) Monografie Bieszczadzkie, 9, 9–29 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 2000b. Description and projected changes in the ichthyofauna of the River Skawa in the area of the future dam reservoir in Świnna Poręba (southern Poland). Acta Hydrobiol., 42, 120-136.
- Kukuła K. 2001. Threatened species of fish and lampreys in southeastern Poland. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 14, 235–248 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 2002. Threats to the ichthyofauna of the Magurski National Park and its surroundings. Archiv. Pol. Fish., 10, 97–108.
- Kukuła K. 2003a. Ichthyofauna of Mt. Babia Góra. In: Wołoszyn B. W., Wołoszyn D. and Celary W. (eds) Fauna of Mt. Babia Góra, Poland. Komitet Ochrony Przyrody PAN, Kraków, 399–408 [in Polish with English summary].
- Kukuła K. 2003b. Ichthyofauna of a mountain river upstream from a big dam reservoir (the upper San River, South-eastern Poland). Archiv Hydrobiol., 157, 00–00.
- Kukuła K. and Szczęsny B. 2000. Ecological characteristics and conservation of aquatic ecosystems in Western Bieszczady Mountains. In: Michalik S. and Pawłowski J. (eds). Monografie Bieszczadzkie, 10, 79–114 [in Polish with English summary].
- Lammert M. and Allan D. J. 1999. Assessing biotic integrity of streams, effects of scale in measuring the influence of land use/cover and habitat structure on fish and macro invertebrates. Environ. Manage., 23, 257-270.
- Lamouroux N. and Capra H. 2002. Simple predictions of instream habitat model outputs for target fish populations. Freshw. Biol., 47, 1543-1556.
- Lelek A. 1996. General considerations regarding the decline of species. In: Kirchhofer A. and Hefti D. (eds) Conservations of endangered freshwater fishes in Europe. Basel, Birkhäuser Verlag, 1–7.

- Leopold M. and Bnińska M. 1987. Estimation of angling fishing effort upon particular fish species in Polish waters – economic consequences. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych, 101, 43–69 [in Polish with English summary].
- Leopold M., Bnińska M., Wołos A., Grabowska K. and Piskorski P. 1989. Evaluation of the condition of environment and fishery economy on the basis of angling records in waters of the Krosno region, including recommendations for this economy. (elaboration for the Krosno Regional Board of Polish Angling Union), 105 pp. [in Polish].
- Levêque C. 1996. Introduction of fish species in freshwaters, a major threat to aquatic biodiversity. In: Di Castri F. and Yonnes, T. (eds). Biodiversity science and development towards a new partnership CAB Int. and Int. Union Biol. Sci., 446–450.
- Lojkásek B., Lusk S., Halačka K. and Lusková V. 2000. Fish communities in the drainage area of the Osoblaha River and effect of the 1997 flood. Czech J. Anim. Sci., 45, 229–236.
- Lojkásek B., Lusk S. and Matýsková B. 2001. The fish community, migration permeability and the cleanliness of the Ostravice River. Čas. Slez. Muz. Opava (A), 50 (Suppl.), 51–65 [in Czech with English summary].
- Luboński P. and Swianiewicz J. J. 1992. Bieszczady Mountains. A guide. Pruszków, Olszanica, Oficyna Wydawnicza "Rewasz", 357 pp. [in Polish].
- Lusk S. 1995a. Influence of valley dams on the changes in fish communities inhabiting streams in the Dyje River drainage area. Folia Zoologica, 44, 45–56.
- Lusk S. 1995b. The status of Chondrostoma nasus in waters of the Czech Republic. Folia Zoologica, 44 (Suppl.1), 1–8.
- Lusk S. 1996. Development and status of populations of *Barbus barbus* in the waters of the Czech Republic. Folia Zoologica, 45 (Suppl.1), 39-46.
- Lusk S. and Hanel L. 1996. The Red List of lampreys and fishes in the Czech Republic version 1995. Biodiverzita ichtiofauny, 1, 16–25 [in Czech with English summary].
- Lusk S., Halačka K. and Lusková V. 1995. Influence of small hydroelectric power stations on fish communities in streams. Živočišná Výroba, 40, 363–367.
- Lusk S., Halačka K., Lusková V., Lojkásek B., Šlechta V. and Pražák O. 1998. Effects of extreme floods in July 1997 on the fish biodiversity in water streams of the Czech Republic. Biodiverzita ichtyofauny ČR, 11, 35-43 [in Czech with English summary].
- Lysak A. and Bieniarz K. 1975. Impact of man on water environment and the ichthyofauna in southern Poland. Gosp. Rybna, 27, 6–9 [in Polish].
- Łysak A. and Ligaszewski M. 1998. Ichthyofauna of the dam reservoire Tresna befor and after its total drainage (1988–1995). Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 11, 65–80 [in Polish with English summary].
- Mahon R. 1984. Divergent structure in fish taxocenes of North temperate streams. Can. J. Fish. Aq. Sci., 41, 330-350.
- Maret T. R. 1999. Characteristics of fish communities and environmental conditions in streams of the upper Snake River basin in eastern Idaho and western Wyoming. In: Simon T. P. (ed.) Assessing the sustainability and biological integrity of water resources using fish communities. Boca Raton, CRS Press LLC, 273-299 pp.
- Marszał L. and Przybylski M. 1996. Threatened and rare fish species in Central Poland. Zoologica Poloniae, 41 (Suppl.), 61–72 [in Polish with English summary].
- Mastyński J. 1985. Fish farming economy and production possibilities of selected barrage reservoirs in Poland. Roczniki Akademii Rolniczej w Poznaniu. Rozprawy Naukowe, 146, 1– 99 [in Polish with English summary].
- Milner N. J., Wyatt R. J. and Scott M. D. 1993. Variability in the distribution and abundance of stream salmonids, and the associated use of habitat models. J. Fish Biol., 43 (Suppl.), 103-119.
- Morin R. and Naiman R. J. 1990. The relation of stream order to fish community dynamics in boreal forest watersheds. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 37, 135-150.
- Neves R. and Angermeier P. L. 1990. Habitat alteration and its effect on native fishes in the upper Tennessee River system, east-central USA. J. Fish Biol., 36 (Suppl. A), 45–52.
- Nicola G. G., Elvira B. and Almodóvar A. 1996. Dams and fish passage facilities in the large rivers of Spain, effects on migratory species. Arch. Hydrobiol., 113 (Suppl.), 375-379.
- Nielsen G. 1986. Dispersion of brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) in relation to stream cover and water depth. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 33, 475-488.

- Noakes D. L. G. and Grant J. W. A. 1986. Behavioral ecology and production of riverine fishes. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 33, 249-262.
- Northcote T. G. 1978. Migratory strategies and production in freshwater fishes. In: Gerking S. (ed.) Ecology of freshwater fish production. Oxford, Blackwell Scient. Public., 326-359.

Opuszyński K. 1983. Basic of fish biology. Warszawa, PWRiL, 590 pp. [in Polish].

- Pasternak K. and Skóra S. 1982. Aquatic environment and the ichthyofauna condition in the Pieniny Mts. region. In Zarzycki K. (ed.) Nature of the Pieniny Mts, in the changing environment. Zakł. Ochrony Przyrody i Zasobów Naturalnych PAN, Warszawa – Kraków, PWN, 367–378 [in Polish].
- Pasternak K. and Wajdowicz Z. 1983. Recreation and water-supply economy and fish management of the Besko dam-reservoir. Problemy Zagospodarowania Ziem Górskich, 23, 223–231 [in Polish with English summary].
- Peňáz M. 1996. Chondrostoma nasus its reproduction strategy and possible reasons for a widely observed population decline – a review. In: Kirchhofer A. and Hefti D. (eds) Conservation of endangered freshwater fishes in Europe. Basel, Birkhäuser Verlag, 279–285.
- Peňáz M. and Wohlgemuth E. 1990. Ichthyocoenosis of a section of the Jihlava River influenced by the Dukovany – Dalešice Power System. Folia Zoologica, 39, 157–169.
- Peňáz M. and Jurajda P. 1993. Fish assemblages of the Morava River, longitudinal zonation and protection. Folia Zoologica, 42, 317–328.
- Penczak T. 1972. Structure of fish groupings in the rivers and streams of the River Nida drainage basin. Ekol. Pol., 20, 327-346.
- Penczak T. 1989. Ichthyofauna of the Pilica drainage basin. Part II. Post impoundment study. Rocz. Nauk. PZW 2, 116-186 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T. 1992. Fish production in the Warta River, postimpoundment study. Hydrobiologia 242, 87–93.
- Penczak T. 1994. Fish recruitment in the Warta River (1985-1992), Impoundment study. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 41, 293-300.
- Penczak T. 1996a. Ichthyofauna of the Narew River catchment area in 1976–1991. Przegląd Zoologiczny, 40, 11–31 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T. 1996b. Natural regenerations of endangered fish populations in the Pilica drainage basin after reducing human impacts. In: Kirchhofer A. and Hefti D. (eds) Conservation of endangered freshwater fishes in Europe. Basel, Birkhäuser Verlag, 121–133.
- Penczak T. 1999. Fish production and food consumption in the Warta River (Poland), continued postimpoundment study (1990–1994). Hydrobiologia, 416, 107–123.
- Penczak T. and Koszalińska M. 1993. Populations of dominant fish species in the Narew River under human impacts. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 40, 59–75.
- Penczak T. and Mann R. H. K. 1993. A preliminary evaluation of the effect of human activity on the fish populations of the Pilica River, Central Poland. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 40, 101–115.
- Penczak T. and Kruk A. 1999. Applicability of the abundance/biomass comparison method for detecting human impacts on fish populations in the Pilica River, Poland. Fish. Res., 39, 229-240.
- Penczak T. and Kruk A. 2000. Threatened obligatory riverine fishes in human modified Polish rivers. Ecol. Freshw. Fish, 9, 109–117.
- Penczak T., Mahon R. and Balon E. K. 1984. The effect of an impoundment on the upstream and downstream fish taxocenes. Archiv Hydrobiol., 99, 200-207.
- Penczak T., Koszaliński H., Buczyńska M. and Jakucewicz H. 1990. Ichthyofauna of the Narew River drainage basin. Part I. The Narew River. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 3, 81–94 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T., Zaczyński A., Koszaliński H., Koszalińska M. and Ulańska M. 1991a. Ichthyofauna of the Narew River drainage basin. Part IV. Left side tributaries of the Narew River. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 4, 83–99 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T., Forbes I., Coles T. F., Atkin T. and Hill T. 1991b. Fish community structure in the rivers of Lincolnshire and South Humberside, England. Hydrobiologia, 211, 1–9.
- Penczak T., Koszaliński H. and Galicka W. 1992. Impact of river bed regulation and water pollution on fosh populations in the Gwda River and its tributaries. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 5, 173-181 [in Polish with English summary].

- Penczak T., Galicka W., Grzybkowska M., Koszaliński H., Janiszewska M., Temech A., Zaczyński A., Głowacki Ł. and Marszał L. 1993. Impact of the Jeziorsko Reservoir on the Warta River water quality, fish populations and their food base (1985–1992). Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 6, 79–114 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T., Galicka W., Grzybkowska M., Głowacki Ł. and Koszaliński H. 1994. Fish stocks in the Warta River, continued post-impoundment study (1990–1992). Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 41, 347–363.
- Penczak T., Zaczyński A., Marszał L. and Koszaliński H. 1995. Monitoring of fish fauna in the Pilica drainage basin. Part I. Tributaries. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 8, 5–52 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T., Marszał L., Kruk A., Koszaliński H., Kostrzewa J. and Zaczyński A. 1996. Monitoring of fish fauna in the Pilica drainage basin. Part II. Pilica. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 9, 91– 104 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T., Głowacki Ł., Galicka W. and Koszaliński H. 1998. A long-term study (1985–1995) of fish populations in the impounded Warta River, Poland. Hydrobiologia, 368, 157–173.
- Penczak T., Czernik K. and Koszaliński H. 1999. Anglers' catches at the tailwater of the Warta River. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 12, 95–104 [in Polish with English summary].
- Penczak T., Kruk A., Koszaliński H. and Zięba G. 2000. Fish fauna of the Bzura River. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 13, 23–33 [in Polish with English summary].
- Persson L. 1994. Natural shifts in the structure of fish communities, mechanisms and constraints on perturbation sustenance. In: Cowx I. G. (ed.) Rehabilitation of freshwater fisheries. Fishing News Books. Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications, 421–433.
- Pierzgalski E. 1993. Regulations of the water conditions in small river valleys In: Tomiałojć L. (ed.) Nature and environment conservation in the lowland river valleys of Poland. Kraków, Wyd. Instytutu Ochrony Przyrody PAN, 135–143 [in Polish with English summary].
- Povž M. 1996. The Red Data List of the freshwater lampreys (Cyclostomata) and fish (Pisces) of Slovenia. In: Kirchhofer A. and Hefti D. (eds) Conservation of endangered freshwater fishes in Europe. Basel, Birkhäuser Verlag, 63–72.
- Przybylski M. 1993. Longitudinal pattern in fish assemblages in the upper Warta River, Poland. Arch. Hydrobiol., 126, 499–512.
- Przybylski M. 1994. Are the fish communities persistent and stable in European rivers? Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 41, 363–375.
- Przybylski M., Frankiewicz P. and Bańbura J. 1993. The fish fauna of the upper Warta River drainage basin. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 6, 49–78 [in Polish with English summary].
- Punzet J. 1994. Recapitulation of studies on the variability of Carpathian riverbeds in the 20th century. Gosp. Wodna, 7, 157-162 [in Polish].
- Punzet J. and Czulak J. 1993. Variability of Carpathian riverbeds of the Vistula, Soła, Skawa, and Raba affluents in the 20th century. Gosp. Wodna, 8, 177–185 [in Polish].
- Rees R. M. and Ribbens J. C. H. 1995. Relationships between afforestation, water chemistry and fish stocks in an upland catchment in South West Scotland. Water, Air Soil Pollut., 85, 303-308.
- Rembiszewski J. M. 1971. On lampreys of San and Strwiąż Rivers drainage basins. Fragm. Faun., 20, 545–557 [in Polish with English summary].
- Rolik H. 1971. Fishes of upper and middle San River and its tributaries. Fragm. Faun., 21, 559–584.
- Ross S. T. 1991. Mechanisms structuring stream fish assemblages, are there lessons from introduced species? Environ. Biol. Fish., 30, 359–368.
- Schiemer F. and Waidbacher H. 1992. Strategies for conservation of a Danubian fish fauna. In: Boon P. J., Calow P. and Petts G. A. (eds) River conservation and management. London, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 363–382.
- Schlosser I. J. 1991. Stream fish ecology, a landscape perspective. Bioscience, 41, 704-712.
- Schlosser I. J. 1995. Critical landscape attributes that influence fish population dynamics in headwater streams. Hydrobiologia, 303, 71-81.
- Schramm W. 1957. Notes to the zoogeography of the Atlas of Poland. Przegląd Zoologiczny, 1, 81–83 [in Polish].
- Skóra S. 1972. The cyprinid Alburnus bipunctatus Bloch from the basins of the rivers Upper San and Dunajec. Acta Hydrobiol., 14, 173-204.

Skóra S. and Włodek J.M. 1988. Ichthyofauna of the Soła River and its tributaries. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 1, 97–121 [in Polish with English summary].

Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1989a. Ichthyofauna of the Wieprzówka River drainage basin. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 2, 100–115 [in Polish with English summary].

- Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1989b. Ichthyofauna of the upper Wisłok catchment area. Studia Ośrodka Dokumentacji Fizjograficznej, 17, 321–344 [in Polish with English summary].
- Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1989c. Ichthyofauna of Polish part of the Czarna Orawa drainage basin. Studia Ośrodka Dokumentacji Fizjograficznej, 27, 345–372 [in Polish with English summary].

Skóra S. and Włodek J. M. 1991. Ichthyofauna of the Skawa River drainage basin. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 4, 47–64 [in Polish with English summary].

Skóra S., Włodek J. M., Augustyn L. and Nawrocki J. 1994. Ichthyofauna of the Biała Dunajcowa catchment area. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 7, 19–37 [in Polish with English summary].

- Solewski W. 1960a. Bachforelle (Salmo trutta m. fario L.) des Flussgebietes der Soła. Acta Hydrobiol., 2, 5–39.
- Solewski W. 1960b. Die Äsche (Thymallus thymallus L.) des Flussgebietes der Soła. Acta Hydrobiol., 2, 201–220.
- Solewski W. 1964. Salmo trutta morpha fario L. of some Carpathian rivers in Poland. Acta Hydrobiol., 6, 227–253 [in Polish with English summary].
- Solewski W. 1965. The ichthyofauna of the Białka Tatrzańska stream with special respect to the characteristics of brown trout (Salmo trutta morpha fario L.). Acta Hydrobiol., 7, 197–224.
- Starmach J. 1972. Characteristic of Cottus poecilopus Heckel and Cottus gobio L. Acta Hydrobiol., 14, 67-102 [in Polish with English summary].
- Starmach J. 1983/1984. Fish zones of the River Dunajec upper catchment basin. Acta Hydrobiol., 25/26, 415-427.
- Starmach J. 1998. Ichthyofauna of the River Dunajec in the region of the Czorsztyn Niedzica and Sromowce Wyżne dam reservoirs (southern Poland). Acta Hydrobiol., 40, 199–205.
- Starmach J., Jelonek M., Mazurkiewicz G., Fleituch T. and Amirowicz A. 1988. Investigations of the present condition of the ichthyofauna and possible exploitation of the Raba River drainage basin. Part I. Biological-fishery characterization of the upper part of the Raba River and its tributaries. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 1, 75–96 [in Polish with English summary].
- Starmach J., Fleituch T., Amirowicz A., Mazurkiewicz G. and Jelonek M. 1991. Longitudinal patterns in fish communities in a Polish mountain river, their relations to abiotic and biotic factors. Acta Hydrobiol., 33, 353–366.
- Starmach K. 1956. Characteristic of rivers from biological and fishery point of vew. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 3, 307–332 [in Polish with English summary].
- Strange E. M., Moyle P. B. and Foin T. C. 1992. Interactions between stochastic and deterministic processes in stream fish community assembly. Environ. Biol. Fish., 36, 1–15.
- Suchy M. (ed.) 2001. Environmental condition in the sub-Carpathian Region in 2000. Raport Wojewódzkiego Inspektoratu Środowiska w Rzeszowie. Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Rzeszów, 44 pp. [in Polish].
- Swales S. 1994. Strategies for the conservation of stream fish populations. In: Cowx I. G. (ed.) Rehabilitation of freshwater fisheries. Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications, 34–48.
- Sych R. 1996. About the project of migratory fish restoration in Poland. Zoologica Poloniae, 41 (Suppl.), 47–59 [in Polish with English summary].
- Szczęsny B. 1991. Macroinvertebrates. In: Dynowska I. and Maciejewski M. (eds) Upper Wisła River drainage basin. Part II. Warszawa, Kraków, PWN, 60–68 [in Polish].
- Szczęsny B. 1995. Benthos invertebrates in the Vistula headwaters (Czarna Wisełka i Biała Wisełka) in conditions of low pH values. In: Wróbel S. (ed.) Acidification and eutrophication of the Wisła-Czarne dam reservoir. Kraków, CIN, 97–106 [in Polish].
- Szczęsny B. and Kukuła K. 1998. Fish fauna in the Czarna Wisełka and the Biała Wisełka, the headstreams of the Vistula River, under acid stress. Studia Naturae, 44, 171–181.
- Turzański K. P. (ed.) 1999. Report on the condition of environment in 1998 in the area of the Małopolska Region. Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Kraków, 140 pp. [in Polish].
- Vannote R. L., Minshall G. W., Cummins K. W., Sedell J. R. and Cushing C. E. 1980. The River Continuum Concept. Can. J. Fish. Aq. Sci., 37, 130–137.

- Vehanen T. 1997. Fish and fisheries in large regulated peaking power river reservoirs in northern Finland, with special reference to the efficiency of brown trout and rainbow trout stocking. Regulated Rivers, Res. Manage., 13, 1-12.
- Wajdowicz Z. 1966. Anderungen des Fischbestandes im Gebiet des Staubeckens Myczkowce. Acta Hydrobiol., 8, 411–424 [in Polish with German summary].
- Wajdowicz Z. 1976. The biological characteristics of lake trout (Salmo trutta m. lacustris L.) from Wdzydze, released into dam reservoirs. Acta Hydrobiol., 18, 101-125.
- Wajdowicz Z. 1979. Development of the ichthyofauna in the cascade of the River San. Acta Hydrobiol., 21, 73-90 [in Polish with English summary].
- Wallace J. B., Webster J. R. and Meyer J. L. 1995. The influence of log additions on physical and biotic characteristics of a mountain stream. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 52, 2120-2137.
- Warren M. L., Jr. and Burr B. M. 1994. Status of freshwater fishes of the United States overview of an imperiled fauna. Fisheries, 19, 6–18.
- Welcomme R. L., Ryder R. A. and Sedell J. A. 1989. Dynamics of fish assemblages in river systems – a synthesis. In: Dodge D. P. (ed.) Proc. International Large River Symp., Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 106, 569–577.
- Witkowski A. 1984a. An analysis of the ichthyofaun of the Biebrza River system. Part II. Materials to the knowledge of the ichthyofauna and review of species. Fragm. Faun., 28, 137–184 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A. 1984b. Structure of communities and biomass of ichthyofauna in the Biebrza River, its old river beds and affluents. Pol. ecol. Stud., 10, 447-474.
- Witkowski A. 1992. Threats and protection of freshwater fishes in Poland. Netherl. J. Zool., 42, 243–259.
- Witkowski A. 1995. The present state and prospects of lampreys Petromyzonidae in Polish water. Chronmy Przyr. Ojcz., 4, 19–29 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A. 1996a. Changes in the ichthyofauna of the Polish river: native and introduced species. Zoologica Poloniae, 41 (Suppl.), 29–40 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A. 1996b. Introduced fish species in Poland, pros and cons. Pol. Arch. Fish., 4, 101-112.
- Witkowski A. 1996c. The Huchen, Hucho hucho (L.) (Salmonidae) a species saved for the Polish ichthyofauna. Zoologia Poloniae, 41 (Suppl.), 131–136 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A. 2001. Outline of the history of fish species conservation in Poland. Rocz. Nauk. PZW (Suppl.), 14, 45–54 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A. and Błachuta J. 1992. Ichthyofauna of the streams of Ślęża Massif. Acta Univ. Wratislav., Prace Zool., 23, 105–123 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A., Kowalewski M. and Kokurewicz B. 1984. Grayling. Warszawa, PWRiL, 214 pp. [in Polish].
- Witkowski A., Błachuta J. and Kusznierz J. 1991. Ichthyofauna of the Widawa River drainage basin after regulation. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 4, 25–46 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A., Błachuta J., Kusznierz J. and Kołacz M. 1992. Ichthyofauna of the Slęża and Oława Rivers and their tributaries. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 5, 137–154 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A., Błachuta J. and Kusznierz J. 1995. The fish populations in the Kwisa River (SW Poland) and their possible relation to acidification, pollution and regulation. Opera Corcontica, 32, 137–150.
- Witkowski A., Błachuta J., Kotusz J. and Heese T. 1999. The red list of freshwater lampreys and fishes in Poland. Chrońmy Przyr. Ojcz., 55, 5–19 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A., Kotusz J., Kusznierz J., Czarny Z. and Błachuta J. 2000a. Monitoring of fish fauna in the Kwisa River. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 13, 5–22 [in Polish with English summary].
- Witkowski A., Błachuta J., Kotusz J. and Kusznierz J. 2000b. Lampreys and fishes of the upper and middle Odra basin (Silesia, SW Poland) – The present situation. Acta Hydrobiol., 42, 283–303.
- Witkowski A., Bartel R. and Kleszcz M. 2001. Successful fish restitutions in Poland. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 14 (Suppl.), 83–90 [in Polish with English summary].
- Włodek J. M. 1975. Initial results of investigations of ichthyofauna of three drainage basins in Western Małopolska (Raba, Skawa, Soła rivers). Postępy Nauk Rol., 75, 107–121 [in Polish].

- Włodek J. M. 1978. Studies on the influence of man (angling) on freshwater fish populations in southern Poland. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol., 20, 2142–2145.
- Włodek J. M. and Skóra S. 1992. Species structure of the ichthyofauna of the River Dunajec in 1988–1992 compared with the condition of 25 years earlier. Mat. Konf. "Current state and perspectives of the ichthyofauna of the Dunajec catchment". PZW, Łopuszna, 20–21.10.1992, 28–50 [in Polish with English summary].
- Włodek J.M. and Skóra S. 1999. Ichthyofaunistic investigations in the river and catchment area of Wisłoka in the years 1994–1995. Rocz. Nauk. PZW, 12, 29–60 [in Polish with English summary].
- Wolter C. and Vilcinskas A. 1997. Perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) as an indicator species for structural degradation in regulated rivers and canals in the lowlands of Germany. Ecol. Freshw. Fish., 6, 174–181.
- Wolter C. and Vilcinskas A. 1998. Fish community structure in lowland waterways, fundamental and applied aspects. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 45, 137–149.
- Wróbel S. 1983. Eutrophication of the Vistula River. In: Kajak Z. (ed.) Ecological basis of environment management in the Vistula basin. Warszawa – Łódź, PWN, 417–434 [in Polish with English summary].
- Wróbel S. 1995. Chemical composition of waters in Wisełka streams and Wisła-Czarne dam reservoir. Recapitulation. In: Wróbel S. (ed.) Acidification and eutrophication of the Wisła--Czarne dam reservoir. Kraków, CIN, 53–67 [in Polish].
- Zalewski M. and Naiman R. J. 1985. The regulation of riverine fish communities by a continuum of abiotic – biotic factors. In: Alabaster J. S. (ed.) Habitat modification and freshwater fisheries. London, Butterworths Scientific Ltd., 3–9.
- Zalewski M., Frankiewicz P., Przybylski M., Bańbura J. and Nowak M. 1990. Structure and dynamics of the fish communities in temperate rivers in relation to the abiotic – biotic regulatory continuum concept. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol., 37, 151–176.

Zar J. 1984. Biostatistical Analysis. 2nd edn. Englefield Cliffs, New Jersey, Prentice-Hall, 718 pp.

- Żarnecki S. and Kołder W. 1955. Observations on the migration of fish through fish ladders in Rożnów and Czchów. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych, 69, 501–521 [in Polish].
- Zarnecki S. and Kołder W. 1956. Ichthyofauna of the Silesian Vistula. Biul. Zakł. Biol. Stawów PAN, 3, 17–45 [in Polish with English summary].
- Żelazo J. 1993. The recent views on the small lowland river training. In: Tomiałojć L. (ed.) Nature and environment conservation in the lowland river valleys of Poland. Kraków, Wyd. Instytutu Ochrony Przyrody PAN, 145–154 [in Polish with English summary].



http://rcin.org.pl

Instructions (continued)

The text should be divided into the following sequence of sections: Introduction, Study area, Material and methods, Results, Discussion, Acknowledgements. Subdivisions within sections should not exceed three grades. The Introduction should contain a clear statement of the purpose of the work, concisely defining the problem and outlining essential background information but should not include either the results or conclusions. The Study area should be described using geographical co-ordinates with the precise location of every sampling station. The chapter Material and methods should provide sufficient details to allow repetition of the study. In the chapter **Results** only important observations strictly connected with the aim of the study should be presented. In no case should data presented in tables or figures be duplicated in the text. The Discussion should highlight the significance of the results (and their limitations) and place them in the context of other works. The author should avoid extensive reviews in the Introduction and Discussion, and cite only essential sources. Acknowledgements should be short and concern only people and institutions that have substantial contributed to the study.

The complete scientific names (genus, species, and authority) accompanied with the common names (if used) should be cited when first mentioned, but abbreviated on subsequent mention. The international system of units (SI) should be used. When a unit appears in the denominator, a negative exponent should be used (e.g. mg L^{-1}). All abbreviations should be defined in brackets after their first mention in the text.

References should be ordered by the first author's name and date. Only published articles and those accepted for publication may be included. Other sources should be cited as personal communications or unpublished data, and used as sparingly as possible. The authors are responsible for the accuracy of their references. If several references published by the same author in the same year are cited, lower case letters after the year (e.g. 1995a) should be used in both the text and the list. If two authors have the same last name, the first initial should be used in text citations. Works published with no individual author or editor should be cited by title or publisher. If the cited paper is published in a language other than English its language should be given in square brackets with information about an English (or any other international language) abstract or summary (if any). If the paper has no English title, the original title should be given (transliterated according to ISO standards in the case of a non-Latin alphabet), followed by an English translation in square brackets.

Tables and figures should be self-explanatory without reference to the text. Tables must be typed on separate sheets and numbered consecutively with Roman numerals. Tables should fit into the page width (maximum 55 lines with 80 letter spaces) or height (35 and 130, respectively). All figures (line drawings, computer-generated graphs, photographs) should be prepared on separate sheets and numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals. Figures should be suitable for reduction into an area of at least 125×190 mm (including caption). After reduction letters and other symbols should not be less than 1.5 mm in height, and lines than 0.2 mm in width. All captions to figures should be typed on a separate sheet and placed at the end of the manuscript.

